

Introduction to the Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

Task Force Membership

Deborah Heggie, Ph.D. Shareh Ghani, M.D. Gary M. Henschen, M.D., L.F.A.P.A. Louis A. Parrott, M.D., Ph.D. Mary Shorter, L.C.S.W-C.

Table of Contents

Purpose of This Document	
Additional Recommendations Based on Recent Literature Review	
Executive Summary	
Introduction	
Nosology, Epidemiology and Etiology	
Office-based Treatment of OCD	
Psychopharmacology	
Neurostimulation	
Complementary and Alternative Medicine	
Psychotherapy	
Combined Treatment	
Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS)	
Obtaining Copies of the APA Guideline	
Provider Feedback	
References	

Purpose of This Document

This document is an introduction to the Magellan Healthcare (Magellan) adopted clinical practice guideline (CPG) for the treatment of individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD). As with all CPGs, this adopted guideline and this Introduction are intended to augment, not replace, sound clinical judgment. As a matter of good practice, providers should note clinically sound exceptions to this practice guideline in the member's treatment record, documenting the clinical reasoning used in making the exception. Magellan periodically requests clinical files from providers in order to monitor compliance with adopted guidelines. Clear documentation of the rationale for exceptions to the guideline's recommendations should be present in the member's treatment record whenever there is evidence of deviation from the guideline.

Additionally, this guideline does not supersede Food and Drug Administration (FDA) determinations or other actions regarding withdrawal or approval of specific medications or devices, and their uses. It is the responsibility of the treating clinician to remain current on medication/device alerts and warnings that are issued by the FDA and other regulatory and professional bodies, and to incorporate such information in his or her treatment decisions.

Magellan has adopted the American Psychiatric Association's (APA) *Practice Guideline* for the Treatment of Patients With Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, First Edition (2007) and the APA Guideline Watch (March 2013) (APA 2007; APA 2013). These documents serve as a framework for practitioners' clinical decision-making with patients who have OCD. The adopted APA guideline is one of the most comprehensive and widely used evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for this disorder, incorporating developments in pharmacotherapy and other areas of psychiatric management of individuals with OCD. The APA guideline and Guideline Watch are research-based documents covering all areas of psychiatric management of patients with this disorder, from clinical features and epidemiology, to treatment approach and planning. Accepted by other managed behavioral healthcare companies, the APA guidelines and Guideline Watch reduce the burden on practitioners serving multiple organizations.

The APA *Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients With Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder*, First Edition contains a section entitled, "Specific Clinical Features Influencing the Treatment Plan" with information and discussion of clinical research findings on psychiatric features, demographic and psychosocial factors, and treatment implications of concurrent general medical conditions. While this section does include pertinent clinical information on treatment issues specific to the children and adolescents, the reader is referred to the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry (AACAP) *Practice Parameter for the Assessment and Treatment of Children and Adolescents With Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder* (2012) for a detailed overview of assessment and treatment of the disorder in this population.

Additional Recommendations Based on Recent Literature Review

The APA guideline is based on a literature review through December 2004. It was approved by the APA in October 2006 and published in July 2007. The Guideline Watch reviewed the clinical literature between 2004 and 2013. Magellan's 2016 guideline update was based on a literature review conducted through May 2016. This guideline was updated to include additional research published through March 2018. Magellan encourages providers to be familiar with the information provided both in this Introduction and the published adopted APA guideline and Guideline Watch.

Executive Summary

(A discussion of additions/changes in this updated guideline.)

Epidemiology/Etiology

The 12-month prevalence of OCD in the United States has been reported as 1.2 percent, with severe cases representing almost one-third of all cases. Lifetime prevalence has been reported as 2.3 percent in the United States (Phillips and Stein, 2015). In a large epidemiological sample including individuals with OCD, the median age at onset was 19 years, with approximately one-fourth of cases beginning by age 10. Onset in males typically occurs at an earlier age than in females. A recent meta-analysis reported that pregnant and postpartum women, compared with women in the general population, are one and one-half to two times more likely to experience OCD (Phillips and Stein, 2015). An autoimmune process following infection with Group A β streptococcus has also been linked to some abrupt cases of childhood-onset OCD. The onset of OCD symptoms has also been linked to head trauma (Seibell and Hollander, 2014).

Genetic susceptibility to OCD has been suggested by twin and family studies. Greater genetic influence has been found in childhood-onset (OCD) than in adult-onset OCD. Genes most consistently implicated are serotonin 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) and glutamate genes. Imaging studies have shown that the most consistently reported structural abnormalities in OCD involve the basal ganglia, orbitofrontal cortex, anterior cingulated cortex and striatum. Abnormalities in multiple neurotransmitter systems may be related to OCD symptoms with the cortico-striato-thalamo-cortical (CSTC) circuitry believed to contribute to the pathophysiology of OCD (Phillips and Stein, 2015).

A most recent genome-wide association study (GWAS) scanning the genomes of people with OCD, as well as close relatives of those with OCD, identified a significant association in patients with OCD near a gene, protein tyrosine phosphokinase (PTPRD) (Mattheisen et al, 2015). The study, OCD Collaborative Genetics Association Study (OCGAS), was comprised of patients (n=1406) with onset of OCD before aged 18 and a case control subsample (n = 1084). The most significant finding in the study was the signal near the PTPRD gene, "a member of the receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase family, which comprises transmembrane signaling molecules that regulate a variety of cellular processes including cell growth and differentiation. Pre-synaptic PTPRD promotes the differentiation of glutamatergic synapses" (Mattheisen et al., p. 344).

Researchers noted that plausible biologic hypotheses and prior genetic evidence has been shown for the finding related to PTPRD's association with OCD.

A large international study collected data from treatment centers across multiple countries and continents. Data points included comorbidity, age of onset, and suicidality (Brakoulias, V., et al, 2017). The authors found high rates of comorbidity with various conditions. The most common comorbid conditions included major depression, obsessive-compulsive personality disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, specific phobia and social phobia. The average age of onset for OCD was 17.9 years. This was earlier than the average age of onset for the comorbid conditions major depression, generalized anxiety disorder and psychotic disorders but was similar to social phobia and specific phobia. The similar age of onset led the researchers to conclude that there may be similarities between OCD and social phobia and specific phobia.

Office-Based Treatment

A recent cross-sectional study assessed the ability of primary care physicians to identify OCD utilizing an online vignette-based survey (Glazier et al., 2015). Primary care physicians (n = 208) reviewed vignettes focused on obsessions regarding aggression, contamination, fear of saying things, religion, pedophilia, somatic concern or symmetry and provided diagnoses and treatment recommendations for the individuals described in the vignettes. The study found that primary care physicians misidentified the vignettes with an overall misidentification rate of 50.5 percent. Of those misidentifying the vignettes, 46.7 percent and 8.6 percent recommended CBT or SSRI, respectively, while of participants correctly identifying the vignette, 66.0 percent and 35.0 percent recommended CBT or SSRI, respectively. Among those misidentifying the vignette, antipsychotic recommendation rates were elevated. Researchers concluded that "elevated OCD misdiagnosis rates and the impact of incorrect diagnoses on treatment recommendations highlight the need for greater training regarding OCD symptomatology and empirically supported treatments" (Glazier et al., p. 767).

Treatment-Psychopharmacology

In a study including patients with OCD (n=361) at different stages of treatment who were recruited in eight international tertiary care centers, researchers found that 317 patients reported use of at least one medication while 44 reported none (Van Ameringen et al, 2014). Of the sample receiving current medication, 77.6 percent were taking a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) as their primary medication, either as monotherapy or an augmentation agent. Monotherapy agents also included tricyclic antidepressants, serotonin norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), antipsychotics and benzodiazepines. Authors reported no significant differences in clinical improvement or Yale Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale (YBOCS) scores between the different monotherapy agents. Nearly one-half of those currently taking medication were using at least one augmentation agent, e.g., antipsychotics, benzodiazepines and antidepressants. When comparing monotherapy and the use of augmentation strategies, no significant differences were observed in clinical improvement or symptom severity. Authors concluded that while other clinical trials have provided evidence that pharmacological augmentation may be effective in OCD, many patients experience sub-optimal clinical improvement (Ameringen et al., 2014).

There have been varying reports as to whether SSRIs have a delayed response in the treatment of OCD. A meta-analysis of randomized, placebo-controlled trials of SSRIs measured the trajectory of the pharmacologic response (Issari Y et al 2016) and the relationship of the trajectory to the SSRI dose. The authors concluded that the greatest treatment gains occur early in the SSRI treatment and that a greater positive response is associated with higher doses of SSRIs (P<.0001).

Except for citalogram and escitalogram, all of the SSRIs have been approved by the FDA for the treatment of OCD in adults (Phillips and Stein, 2015). The FDA has approved only three SSRIs, i.e., fluoxetine, fluoxamine and sertraline, in the treatment of children with OCD. Clomipramine, a tricyclic antidepressant, has been approved by the FDA for both adults and children, but SSRIs are the recommended first-line medication due to adverse side effects of clomipramine. SSRIs are typically used at higher doses and for longer periods in patients with OCD than in patients with depression. A particular SSRI is chosen based on side effect profiles, potential drugdrug interactions, comorbid medical conditions, patient age, prior treatment response, family history of treatment response and patient preference as no evidence has been shown for differential benefit among the SSRIs (Pittenger and Bloch, 2014; Seibell and Hollander, 2014). Although studies have shown the benefit of higher dose and longer treatment in treating patients with OCD, few studies suggest how long to continue pharmacotherapy after the achievement of a clinical response. Pittenger and Bloch noted that a meta-analysis of studies found relapse rates in individuals switched from pharmacotherapy to placebo were approximately twice as high as in those maintained on SSRI pharmacotherapy.

SNRIs, e.g., venlafaxine, have been shown in several studies to be highly effective in treating SSRI-refractory OCD (Pittenger et al., 2014). Other studies suggested that SNRIs, e.g., venlafaxine, are less effective than SSRIs, e.g., paroxetine in treating SSRI-refractory OCD. Pittener and Bloch cautioned against recommending SNRIs for OCD monotherapy based on current data. SSRIs are generally the recommended first-line pharmacological treatment for OCD. According to the APA, when an eight- to 12-week trial of a SSRI does not result in a positive response, another trial of monotherapy with another SSRI or clomipramine should be given. They also noted that the likelihood of response decreases with an increased number of failed trials (Phillips and Stein, (2015).

Treatment - Augmentation of Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors with Antipsychotics

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis investigated the effects of antipsychotic augmentation in OCD using as the primary outcome measure the Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale (Y-BOCS) (Veale et al., 2014). Adults with OCD (n=493) participated in fourteen studies, four of which were preceded by an open-label study of a SSRI, to determine its responsiveness prior to beginning treatment with an antipsychotic. The remaining ten studies involved patients receiving routine treatment with a SSRI. All studies were randomized controlled trials comparing an atypical antipsychotic, i.e., risperidone, olanzapine, quetiapine and aripiprazole, against a placebo for at least four weeks to augment SSRI treatment. The study found no evidence of the clinical effectiveness of olanzapine or quetiapine as augmenting agents, while aripiprazole and risperidone were found to be effective in the *short term*. They recommended against the use of olanzapine and quetiapine as augmenting agents in

OCD. Authors also noted evidence for the effectiveness of CBT or clomipramine to augment SSRIs before use of an anti-psychotic, but cautioned that the use of clomipramine combined with a SSRI requires electrocardiogram (ECG) monitoring.

Treatment – Augmentation of Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors with Risperidone or Exposure and Ritual Prevention (EX/RP)

Based on meta-analyses, an estimate of up to one-third of adults with OCD respond acutely to augmenting SRIs with antipsychotics, but the long-term response to antipsychotic augmentation has not been studied (Foa et al., 2015). In a recent trial, patients with OCD (n=100) who were receiving either clomipramine or a SSRI for at least 12 weeks while remaining symptomatic were randomized to eight weeks of risperidone, EX/RP including twice-weekly 90-minute sessions, or pill placebo during the acute phase of the study. Patients (n=40) who responded (Y-BOCS scores decreased at least 25 percent) during the eight-week period entered a six-month maintenance phase where the two augmentation strategies continued. Of the patients receiving EX/RP during the acute phase, 60 percent were responders, whereas only 16 percent of those receiving risperidone were responders. However, those who responded to either EX/RP or risperidone maintained their gains over the six-month maintenance phase. Researchers concluded that these results "strongly support augmenting SRIs with EX/RP rather than risperidone in adults with OCD" and further suggested that "ongoing EX/RP treatment can help many patients maintain their acute gains" (Foa et al., p. 449).

A recent study included adults with OCD (n=32) who had failed to respond to 12 weeks of SRI treatment after which they were randomized to eight weeks of SRI augmentation with risperidone or pill placebo, again being classified as non- responders (McLean et al., 2015). Non-responders to risperidone and pill placebo (n=20 and 12, respectively) then elected to crossover to 17 twice weekly treatments of EX/RP. At posttreatment, more than half of the participants were responders with 15 percent achieving excellent response. Authors noted the importance of this study as it shows that EX/RP is effective for OCD patients who continue to report clinically significant OCD symptoms after SRI treatment and after SRI augmentation with either risperidone or placebo. Researchers found that the participants either maintained gains or showed improvement to week 32 follow-up. Researchers concluded, "This study adds to the body of evidence supporting the use of EX/RP with patients who continue to report clinically significant OCD symptoms after multiple pharmacologic trials" (McLean et al., 2015).

Cognitive Behavior Therapy

A recent meta-analysis investigation, including 16 randomized controlled trials with participants with OCD (n=756), examined the efficacy of cognitive behavior therapy (CBT) (Olatunji et al., 2015). Control conditions included the following: stress management training, relaxation, pill placebo, anxiety management and wait-list. Analysis of results found that CBT was superior to control conditions in the improvement of both OCD symptoms and depression symptoms at post-treatment showing a large effect size. Researchers noted the need for future studies to determine the extent to which CBT produces long lasting symptom changes for patients with OCD. They reported the lack of a significant association between higher pre-treatment OCD symptom severity or higher pre-treatment depression and lower CBT effect size. Findings were consistent with other studies showing relatively equivalent effects for

different treatment types, i.e., CT and ERP. The number of CBT sessions was unrelated to CBT effect sizes as were intensity of treatment and magnitude of treatment. Researches emphasize that "there may be no added benefit to extensive sessions given that standard CBT for OCD can stay cost-effective without losing efficacy" (Olatunji et al, p. 228).

Remote Cognitive Behavior Therapy

Using a meta-analytic approach, a recent study evaluated the efficacy of remote cognitive behavior therapy for OCD (Wootton, 2015). Included in this meta-analysis were 18 studies including individuals with OCD (n=823) whose mean age was 31 years. Treatments included 23 remote conditions, e.g., videoconferencing administered CBT (vCBT), telephone administered CBT (tCBT), computerized CBT (cCBT), internet administered CBT (iCBT), and bibliotherapy administered CBT (bCBT). High intensity remote treatments included vCBT and tCBT, both of which provide skills and length of sessions typically the same as in traditional face-to-face treatment with the patient and therapist interacting in real-time. Low intensity remote treatments, i.e., cCBT, iCBT and bCBT, also provide skills much the same as in face-to-face treatment and may include some clinician contact or be self-guided, although not in real time. All participants had moderate symptoms at baseline according to the Y-BOCS score. Control conditions included face-to-face treatment, attention controls, relaxation training and waitlist controls. Researchers found that remote treatment, regardless of methodology delivered, was more effective than no treatment, producing a decrease in symptoms of a large magnitude, with outcomes similar to face-to-face treatment. Researchers suggested that the amount of therapist contact may be a moderating factor and noted that the effect size in high intensity treatments was larger than in low intensity treatments although symptoms were decreased in both treatments. They concluded, "According to the findings of this meta-analysis an entirely remote stepped care treatment may be possible where low intensity remote treatments (such as iCBT or bCBT) are offered as a first step in a stepped care treatment for OCD, followed by higher intensity remote treatments (such as vCBT or tCBT if required" (Wootton, p.111). While suggesting that remote treatment may be as effective as face-to-face treatment, researchers also noted, "Across each of these studies the effect size differences are in the favor of face-to-face treatment and further research is required to elucidate the differences in outcome between different types of remote treatment and face-to-face treatment." They suggested further investigation in the future due to the small number of randomized controlled trials that have been conducted to date comparing face-to-face and remote treatment.

Treatment - Augmentation of CBT with D-cycloserine

Researchers have hypothesized that the administration of D-cyloserine prior to use of CBT can enhance the treatment impact of CBT in children and adults. Earlier studies found promising results (Wilhelm et al, 2008, Farrell et al, 2013.) However, the studies used small sample sizes and truncated CBT protocols. A more recent study (Storch, 2016) found no added benefits from the administration of D-cyloserine in a population of children and adolescents with CBT. 142 children and adolescents with a diagnosis of OCD were randomly assigned to family CBT sessions with either a dose of D-cycloserine or placebo. Both groups responded well to the CBT as evidenced by a decline in the Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale but the group receiving the medication did not display superior benefits over the group receiving the placebo. A later review and meta analysis of studies investigating the effect of D-cycloserine

augmentation with CBT found short term positive gains as compared to placebo and mixed findings in terms of continued positive impact at follow up (Mataix-Cols, 2017.)

Stepped Care and Lower Levels of Treatment (Self-Help)

Noting that although CBT with EX/RP is recognized as the most effective treatment for OCD, authors also pointed to the many barriers to accessibility, including restricted access in rural areas and to trained clinicians, as well as high cost (Pearcy et al., 2016). A meta-analysis, including eighteen studies (randomized controlled trials or quasi-experimental studies) that included adults with OCD (n=1570), investigated the efficacy of self-help treatment with a particular focus on therapeutic contact within the context of a stepped-care model (Pearcy et al., 2015). Studies were categorized depending on amount of therapeutic contact as follows: self-administered, predominately self-help, or minimal-therapist contact self-help. Researchers sought to determine the impact of the amount of therapist contact on outcomes, irrespective of whether the self-help treatments were mainstream or alternative. Results showed that as therapeutic contact increased, effect size increased:

- Self-administered self-help pooled subgroup effect size at posttreatment - .33 (small total effect size)
- Predominantly self-help pooled subgroup effect size at post- treatment .68 (moderate total effect size)
- Minimal-therapist contact self-help pooled subgroup effect at posttreatment -1.08 (large total effect size).

Researchers noted a downward trend in drop-out rates that occurred as therapeutic contact increased; the self-administered group had the highest dropout rate followed by the predominantly self-help group and the minimal self-help group. This study showed evidence of the efficacy of internet CBT for OCD with minimal-therapist contact self-help, but there is a lack of current randomized controlled trials for the treatment of OCD using CBT or ERP through self-administered self-help with no therapist contact. Researchers suggested the need for randomized controlled trials using CBT or ERP through self-administered self-help to investigate stepped care (Pearcy et al., 2016).

Brief Family Intervention to Reduce Accommodation in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

A recent, small randomized controlled study evaluated the feasibility, acceptability and efficacy of a brief adjunctive intervention for family members of adult patients with OCD (Thompson-Hollands et al., 2015). Patients (n=18) with a mean age of 35.44 years received standard ERP while a family member of each patient was randomized to either receive or not receive the brief adjunctive intervention. The intervention included two sessions for a family member within two weeks of the patient beginning ERP and another session two weeks later. The intervention began with psychoeducation, including the model of OCD and the rationale for ERP. Accommodation, as a common although maladaptive family response, was openly discussed. The sessions included skills training to reduce accommodation, which "serves the same maladaptive function as compulsions" (Thompson-Hollands et al., p. 222). Results of this 25 week study showed that the intervention successfully reduced family accommodation, based on scores on the Family Accommodation Scale for Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Average accommodation scores of family members in the control group remained little changed by the end of the study (remained at 78

percent of their baseline levels), while the scores of family members in the intervention group dropped substantially (dropped to 37 percent of baseline levels). Regression analysis found that "change in family accommodation from baseline accounted for a significant amount of variance in later OCD symptoms" in the intervention group and suggested, "this adjunctive intervention produces more rapid treatment response compared to traditional ERP alone" (Thompson-Hollands, et al., p. 218).

Deep Brain Stimulation in the Treatment of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

Deep Brain Stimulation has shown promise for the treatment of patients with severe treatment refractory OCD but there have been few studies that have monitored the long-term treatment impact. One recent study (Fayad et al, 2016) evaluated the long-term safety and effectiveness of DBS over the course of 73-112 months. Of the six adults who were enrolled in the original NIMH pilot study of use of DBS with OCD, four participants showed the same positive treatment response over time as they had after one year of the treatment. Positive response was defined as greater than 35% reduction in symptoms as measured by the Yale Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale. An initial non-responder to the treatment achieved a 26% reduction in symptoms at the long-term follow up. (Fayad, SM, Guzick, AG, Reid, AM, Mason, DM, Bertone, A, Foote, KD, Okun MS, Goodman WK, Ward HE (2016, December 08). Six-Nine Year Follow-Up of Deep Brain Stimulation for Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed?term=27930748).

A recent study reviewed the modern literature regarding deep brain stimulation (DBS) in the treatment of therapy-refractory OCD (Blomstedt et al., 2015). Authors noted that based on current understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms behind OCD, it is not possible to identify the best target for an intervention with DBS. Clinical effects of DBS for OCD have been presented in 25 publications including a total of 90 individual patients. As a result of their review of the studies, authors concluded, "A therapy that will improve about one-third of patients from severe to moderate OCD, and one-third from severe to mild or no OCD, is promising for many patients suffering from severe therapy-refractory symptoms. However, the presented study comes mainly from nonrandomized studies of limited size. Further, no consensus exists regarding the target of choice for DBS in this condition. It must therefore be emphasized that DBS for OCD is currently an *experimental therapy* that should only be performed in clinical studies by multidisciplinary teams with substantial experience with DBS from other conditions (Blomstedt et al., 2015).

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation of the Supplementary Motor Area (SMA)

A recent randomized study of subjects (Pallanti et al, 2016) refractory to SSRI treatment assigned half of the subjects to a control group where the SSRI was augmented with an antipsychotic medication. The other half of the subjects were assigned to five 20-minute-long rTMS sessions per week for 3 weeks. Improvement was defined as at least 25% improvement from baseline as measured by the Yale Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale. Of the group receiving rTMS, 68% met the "improved" definition. Of the group receiving the treatment as usual with augmented medication, 24% met the definition.

A recent randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial investigated the efficacy of low-frequency (1 Hz) rTMS in patients with OCD (Hawken et al., 2016). Participants (n=22) were randomly assigned into one of two groups (ACTIVE or SHAM

groups). rTMS was applied bilaterally and simultaneously over the sensory motor area. The Y-BOCS score at the end of the six-week treatment period showed a clinically significant decrease for the ACTIVE group receiving treatment compared both to baseline as well as to the SHAM group, and the effect was maintained over the following six weeks after completion of treatment. Researchers suggested future studies are needed extending the follow-up period to determine the duration of clinical efficacy and to determine the generalizability of the findings (Hawken et al., 2016).

Exercise as an alternative and/or adjunctive treatment for OCD

A recent pilot study tested the feasibility and clinical benefits of 12-weeks of combined moderate-to-vigorous aerobic exercise and group CBT in patients whose mean age was 35 (n = 11) with moderate-to-severe, medication-refractory OCD (Rector et al., 2015). CBT was delivered in a group format incorporating exposure and response prevention with increasing emphasis on cognitive approaches for obsessions and compulsions. Adherence to exercise was measured by self-reported exercise session logs and weekly phone checks by research assistants and reported to exceed 80 percent. OCD symptom reduction measured from pre- to post-treatment by Y-BOCS scores showed large, clinically significant improvements in severity of symptoms. Researchers noted that the results of this study demonstrate the "possible value of aerobic exercise as an adjunctive treatment in OCD" and "are proceeding with a large-scale, multi- site randomized controlled trial that will aim to overcome the limitations associated with this pilot investigation" (Rector et al., p. 338).

Introduction

The Guideline Watch summarizes new evidence and recommendations since the publication of the Guideline, indicating that the changes in the definition of OCD in DSM-5 have no impact on the treatment recommendations of the Guideline. The recently published Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders Fifth Edition (DSM-5TM) no longer considers OCD as an "anxiety disorder." Obsessive-compulsive and related disorders are now included in a separate chapter of the DSM-5. Related disorders include: body dysmorphic disorder; hoarding disorder; trichotillomania (hair pulling disorder); excoriation (skin picking) disorder; substance/medication-induced obsessive-compulsive and related disorder; obsessive-compulsive and related disorder due to another medical condition; other specified obsessive-compulsive and related disorder; and unspecified obsessive-compulsive and related disorder. The common thread running through OCD and related disorders are obsessions, compulsions or both. Although these disorders have features in common, they are considered distinct disorders as there are important differences between them. The DSM-IV OCD specifier "with poor insight" has been changed in DSM-5 to allow for some degrees on a spectrum of insight, including good or fair insight, poor insight and absent insight/delusional beliefs. A tic-related specifier is included in DSM-5 to identify individuals with a current or past comorbid tic disorder (APA, 2013).

Nosology, Epidemiology and Etiology

The 12-month prevalence of OCD in the United States has been reported as 1.2 percent, with severe cases representing almost one-third of all cases. Lifetime prevalence has been reported as 2.3 percent in the United States (Phillips and Stein, 2015). In a large epidemiological sample including individuals with OCD, the median age at onset was 19 years, with approximately one-fourth of cases beginning by age 10. Onset in males typically occurs at an earlier age than in females. A recent meta-analysis reported that pregnant and postpartum women, compared with women in the general population, are one and one-half to two times more likely to experience OCD (Phillips and Stein, 2015). An autoimmune process following infection with Group A β streptococcus has also been linked to some abrupt cases of childhood-onset OCD. The onset of OCD symptoms has also been linked to head trauma (Seibell and Hollander, 2014).

Genetic susceptibility to OCD has been suggested by twin and family studies. Greater genetic influence has been found in childhood-onset (OCD) than in adult-onset OCD. Genes most consistently implicated are serotonin (5-HT) and glutamate genes. Imaging studies have shown that the most consistently reported structural abnormalities in OCD involve the basal ganglia, orbitofrontal cortex, anterior cingulated cortex and striatum. Abnormalities in multiple neurotransmitter systems may be related to OCD symptoms with the cortico-striato-thalamo-cortical (CSTC) circuitry believed to contribute to the pathophysiology of OCD (Phillips and Stein, 2015).

A most recent genome-wide association study (GWAS) scanning the genomes of people with OCD, as well as close relatives of those with OCD, identified a significant association in patients with OCD near a gene, protein tyrosine phosphokinase (PTPRD) (Mattheisen et al, 2015). The study, OCD Collaborative Genetics Association Study (OCGAS), was comprised of patients (n = 1406) with onset of OCD before age 18 years and a case control subsample (n = 1084). The most significant finding in the study was the signal near the PTPRD gene, "a member of the receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase family, which comprises transmembrane signaling molecules that regulate a variety of cellular processes including cell growth and differentiation. Presynaptic PTPRD promotes the differentiation of glutamatergic synapses" (Mattheisen et al., p. 344). Researchers noted that plausible biologic hypotheses and prior genetic evidence has been shown for the finding related to PTPRD's association with OCD.

Related to OCD diagnosis and classification is an issue regarding the factor structure of the symptoms of OCD. The research team of Bloch et al. conducted a meta-analysis that included 21 studies and 5,124 participants with OCD and an exploratory factor analysis of the 13 Yale-Brown Obsessive-Compulsive Scale Symptom Checklist (Y-BOCS) categories (Bloch et al., 2008). Their findings showed that a four-factor structure explained a large proportion of the heterogeneity in the clinical symptoms of OCD, i.e., dimensions of symmetry, forbidden thoughts, cleaning and hoarding. In a published clinical review of current methods used in the assessment of OCD, these underlying symptom dimensions were noted to have important implications for the etiology, assessment and treatment of the disorder (Benito et al., 2011). Authors emphasized they have been associated with differential responses to cognitive-behavioral (CBT) and pharmacotherapy, different patterns of neural activity and

distinct patterns of familial transmission while playing an important role in tailoring treatments to the needs of individual patients (Benito et al., 2011). DSM-5 notes that while the specific content of obsessions and compulsions varies among individuals, symptom dimensions are common in OCD, i.e., cleaning, symmetry, forbidden or taboo thoughts, and harm, e.g., fears of harm to others or oneself and checking compulsions. Another dimension discussed in DSM-5 is the hoarding of objects as a consequence of obsessions and compulsions. Themes occur across different cultures and are relatively consistent in adults with OCD over time, and individuals with OCD often have symptoms in more than one dimension (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Risk factors for OCD have been analyzed using epidemiological data in order to more readily identify and effectively treat persons affected with this illness. In 2007, Fontenelle and Hasler conducted a large qualitative systematic review of community samples (90 studies and 16 reviews) and analyzed the correlates and risk factors associated with the development of OCD. These included demographic characteristics, innate features, e.g., familial background and intelligence levels, environmental factors and psychiatric comorbidities (Fontenelle et al., 2007). Major findings of their review showed that late adolescence is a period of increased vulnerability to OCD and that it affects predominantly female adults and male children and adolescents. Other key risk factors identified were being unmarried, non-white or abusing drugs. Additionally, researchers reported that OCD was found to be a familial and genetic disorder when one considers symptom dimensions instead of categorical diagnosis and when the disorder begins at an early age (Fontenelle et al., 2007).

Researchers examined data from the Swedish National Patient Register, Multi-Generation Register and Twin Register to provide unbiased estimates of familial risk for heritability of OCD at the population level (Mataix-Cols et al., 2013). The Swedish National Patient Register included data on individuals (n=24,000) diagnosed with OCD during four decades, and the Twin Register included data from a population-based sample of twins (n=16,000) with OCD symptoms. Analyses of family data and twin analyses were performed which led to the following conclusions: 1) OCD is a familial and heritable disorder; 2) unique, rather than shared, environment is important in OCD; and 3) non-biological relatives of patients with OCD are also at an elevated risk for OCD. Researchers concluded that the familiarity of OCD is explained for the most part by genetic factors and that non-shared environmental factors are at least as important. They suggested further studies to explore a finding of possible assortative mating in OCD (Mataix-Cols et al., 2013).

The adopted APA guideline indicates that mood disorders, i.e., depressive disorders and bipolar disorders, anxiety disorders, i.e., panic disorder, generalized anxiety disorder [GAD], social phobia, tics, Tourette's disorder and eating disorders, i.e., anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa, are conditions that commonly co-occur in patients with OCD. The guideline also specifies that other disorders with elevated prevalence in OCD include certain impulse-control disorders, i.e., skin picking and trichotillomania, attention-deficit/hyperactivity (ADHD) and oppositional defiant disorder (ODD). Since publication of the guideline, one family study of OCD with genetic probands found that major depressive disorder (MDD) was highly familial when comorbid with pediatric OCD (Hanna et al., 2011). A more recent study of 71

children and adolescents with primary OCD found that 21 percent of this sample exhibited depressive symptoms (confirmed by the Children's Depression Inventory) that were associated with higher levels of cognitive distortion and more severe OCD symptoms (Peris et al., 2010). Another study examining the effect of depression on refractory OCD and PTSD found that depression was related to higher levels of the OCD symptom cluster of obsessing, but not to other symptom clusters, i.e., hoarding, checking, neutralizing, ordering, washing and doubting, and to greater severity of PTSD (Merrill et al., 2011). In addition, the prevalence rate of PTSD and trauma exposure was higher in children with OCD (n=263) than in a comparative control group of non-OCD youth and those affected with concurrent disorders had more severe OCD symptoms (LaFluer et al., 2011).

The DSM-5 indicates that 76 percent of individuals with OCD have an anxiety disorder and 63 percent have a depressive or bipolar disorder, the most common being major depressive disorder. Another common comorbidity is personality disorder, occurring in 23 to 32 percent of individuals with OCD. A lifetime tic disorder occurs in up to 30 percent of individuals with OCD and is most common in males. Other comorbidities include related disorders of OCD, e.g., body dysmorphic disorder, trichotillomania and excoriation. An association between oppositional defiant disorder and OCD has also been reported. The DSM-5 advises that individuals with schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, bipolar disorder, eating disorders and Tourette's disorder should be assessed for OCD (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Age at onset (AAO) studies have been published demonstrating that early onset (EO) and late onset (LO) represent distinct subtypes of OCD. Results from the analysis of one Canadian OCD sample (n=252) found an association between earlier onset of illness and higher comorbidity with other obsessive compulsive spectrum disorders, suggesting greater severity and poorer outcome. In addition, subjects in the earlyonset group (< 10 years) had a significant increase in comorbid tic and Tourette's disorder (Janowitz et al., 2009). A meta-analytic review of OCD studies confirmed these subtypes and found that EO compared to LO was more likely to occur in males, be associated with greater OCD global severity and higher prevalence of most types of OC symptoms, more likely to be comorbid with tics and other obsessive compulsive spectrum disorders and with greater prevalence of OCD in first degree relatives (Taylor 2011). Similar findings were reported in another study (n=196) where it was found that EO subjects tended more often to have comorbid panic disorder (de Luca et al., 2011). Likewise, findings from a retrospective chart review (n=132) conducted in Poland showed that specific types of obsessions and compulsions differed and were grouped by age of onset subtypes, i.e., adolescent, adults with early onset, adults with late onset. Investigators noted that more rigorous study of OCD symptom clusters by age of onset groups and duration of OCD is required (Butwicka et al., 2010). The DSM-5 indicates that a triad of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), tic disorder and OCD is often seen in early years of childhood (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Two studies focused on the key functions of compulsions for patients with OCD. An Australian study analyzed data from a structured psychiatric interview of 108 patients with OCD using the Y-BOCS and the Functions of Compulsions Interview (Starcevic et al., 2011). Investigators were able to verify the functions of 218 compulsions and

found that the mean number of functions per compulsion was 2.94 and were often performed automatically. Study results specified reasons for compulsions as follows: (1) hoarding performed for perceived need for collected objects; (2) order/ symmetry/repeating performed to achieve a "just right" feeling; (3) checking performed to avert something bad from happening; (4) washing/cleaning performed to decrease stress or anxiety; and (5) mental compulsions (or compulsions without overt signs) were performed automatically (Starcevic et al., 2011). A longitudinal study of 225 patients with OCD followed over four years found that 12 percent of the sample presented with mental rituals, i.e., praying, counting, mental checking, thinking "good" or "safe" thoughts and neutralizing distressing images, as the primary compulsion (Sibrava et al., 2011). Further analysis of these findings indicated that for those patients endorsing mental rituals as their primary compulsion, the following were the most frequently endorsed obsession: (1) fear of harming self/other, being responsible for something bad happening, and (2) fears of offending God and sacrilegious thoughts. Investigators noted that praying and undoing bad thoughts with good thoughts were the most frequently endorsed mental ritual. In addition, the study found preliminary evidence that primary mental rituals were associated with an earlier onset of OCD and a more severe and chronic form of the disorder (Sibrava et al., 2011).

Parental rearing and response to OCD symptoms of children were studied in clinical trials in order to gain further understanding of relevant family dynamics experienced by individuals with OCD and develop effective therapeutic interventions (Lennertz et al., 2009; Albert et al., 2010). One controlled study conducted in Germany compared 122 subjects with OCD along with 41 of their siblings, to 59 healthy controls with 45 of their siblings. Analysis of findings from the German short-version of the Egna Minnen Befräff-ande Uppfostran (EMBU - translated to Own Memories of Parental Rearing Experiences in Childhood) tool showed that OCD cases reported less warm and more rejecting and controlling behavior by their parents compared with healthy control subjects. In addition, OCD subjects with early onset reported less maternal rejection than OCD subjects with late onset (Lennertz et al., 2009). Another study analyzed findings from the Family Accommodation Scale (FAS) administered to 141 psychopathology-free family members cohabitating with 97 patients with OCD. The results showed that family accommodation, i.e., a process whereby family members assist or participate in rituals, was common. Provision of reassurance, participation in rituals and assisting the patient in avoidance were the most frequent practices (occurring on a daily basis in 47 percent, 35 percent and 43 percent of family members respectively). In addition, study findings revealed that family accommodation is particularly frequent and distressing when the patient has prominent contamination/washing symptoms and/or when another family member has a history of an anxiety disorder (Albert et al., 2010).

Office-based Treatment of OCD

A recent cross-sectional study assessed the ability of primary care physicians to identify OCD utilizing an online vignette-based survey (Glazier et al., 2015). Primary care physicians (n = 208) reviewed vignettes focused on obsessions regarding aggression, contamination, fear of saying things, religion, pedophilia, somatic concern or symmetry and provided diagnoses and treatment recommendations for the

individuals described in the vignettes. The study found that primary care physicians misidentified the vignettes with an overall misidentification rate of 50.5 percent. Of those misidentifying the vignettes, 46.7 percent and 8.6 percent recommended CBT or SSRI, respectively, while of participants correctly identifying the vignette, 66.0 percent and 35.0 percent recommended CBT or SSRI, respectively. Among those misidentifying the vignette, antipsychotic recommendation rates were elevated. Researchers concluded that "elevated OCD misdiagnosis rates and the impact of incorrect diagnoses on treatment recommendations highlight the need for greater training regarding OCD symptomatology and empirically supported treatments" (Glazier et al., p. 767).

In one study, treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder in U.S. office-based medical practices was studied (Patel et al., 2014). Examining data from the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (2003-2010), researchers found that among visits (n=316) with a diagnosis of OCD, 96 percent were to a physician seen previously by the patient and 86 percent of the visits were to a psychiatrist. Psychotropic medications, mostly SRIs, were prescribed at 84 percent of the visits and patients self- paying had higher chances of receiving psychotherapy. An imbalance in ethnic and racial distribution of OCD showed 91 percent of visits by non-Hispanic white patients, 1 percent by non-Hispanic black patients, 3 percent by Hispanic patients, and 4 percent by other non-Hispanic patients. Researchers suggested that research is needed to identify barriers to outpatient treatment of minority group members who have OCD. They suggested that efforts are also needed to better understand the recognition and treatment of OCD in primary care, especially given the potential shift to mental healthcare by primary care physicians under the Affordable Care Act (Patel et al., 2013).

Psychopharmacology

In a study including patients with OCD (n=361) at different stages of treatment who were recruited in eight international tertiary care centers, researchers found that 317 patients reported use of at least one medication while 44 reported none (Van Ameringen et al. 2014). Of the sample receiving current medication, 77.6 percent were taking a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) as their primary medication, either as monotherapy or an augmentation agent. Monotherapy agents also included tricyclic antidepressants, serotonin norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), antipsychotics and benzodiazepines. Authors reported no significant differences in clinical improvement or Yale Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale (YBOCS) scores between the different monotherapy agents. Nearly one-half of those currently taking medication were using at least one augmentation agent, e.g., antipsychotics, benzodiazepines and antidepressants. When comparing monotherapy and the use of augmentation strategies, no significant differences were observed in clinical improvement or symptom severity. Authors concluded that while other clinical trials have provided evidence that pharmacological augmentation may be effective in OCD, many patients experience sub-optimal clinical improvement (Ameringer et al., 2014).

Except for citalopram and escitalopram, all of the SSRIs have been approved by the FDA for the treatment of OCD in adults (Phillips and Stein, 2015). The FDA has approved only three SSRIs, i.e., fluoxetine, fluoxamine and sertraline, in the

treatment of children with OCD. Clomipramine, a tricyclic antidepressant and potent SRI, has been approved by the FDA for both adults and children, but SSRIs are the recommended first-line medication due to adverse side effects of clomipramine. SSRIs are typically used at higher doses and for longer periods in patients with OCD than in patients with depression. A particular SSRI is chosen based on side effect profiles, potential drug-drug interactions, comorbid medical conditions, patient age, prior treatment response, family history of treatment response, and patient preference as no evidence has been shown for differential benefit among the SSRIs (Pittenger and Bloch, 2014; Seibell and Hollander, 2014). Although studies have shown the benefit of higher dose and longer treatment in treating patients with OCD, few studies suggest how long to continue pharmacotherapy after the achievement of a clinical response. Pittenger and Bloch noted that a meta-analysis of studies found relapse rates in individuals switched from pharmacology to placebo approximately were twice as high as in those maintained on their SSRI pharmacotherapy.

SNRIs, e.g., clomipramine and venlafaxine, have been shown in several studies to be highly effective in treating SSRI-refractory OCD (Pittenger et al., 2014). Other studies suggested that SNRIs, e.g., venlafaxine, are less effective than SSRIs, e.g., paroxetine in treating SSRI-refractory OCD. Pittener and Bloch cautioned against recommending SNRIs for OCD monotherapy based on current data. SSRIs are generally the recommended first-line pharmacological treatment for OCD. According to the APA, when an eight- to 12-week trial of a SSRI does not result in a positive response, another trial of monotherapy with another SSRI or clomipramine should be given. They also noted that the likelihood of response decreases with an increased number of failed trials (Phillips and Stein, 2015).

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis investigated the effects of antipsychotic augmentation in OCD using as the primary outcome measure the Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale (Y-BOCS) (et al., 2014). Adults with OCD (n=493) participated in fourteen studies, four of which were preceded by an open-label study of a SSRI, to determine its responsiveness prior to beginning treatment with an antipsychotic. The remaining ten studies involved patients receiving routine treatment with a SSRI. All studies were randomized controlled trials comparing an atypical antipsychotic, i.e., risperidone, olanzapine, quetiapine and aripiprazole, against a placebo for at least four weeks. The study found no evidence of the clinical effectiveness of olanzapine or quetiapine as augmenting agents, while aripiprazole and risperidone were found to be effective in the *short term*. They recommended against the use of olanzapine and quetiapine as augmenting agents in OCD. Authors also noted evidence for the effectiveness of CBT or clomipramine to augment SSRIs before use of an anti-psychotic, but cautioned that the use of clomipramine combined with a SSRI requires electrocardiogram (ECG) monitoring.

The adopted APA guideline specifies that both serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SRIs) and cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) are safe and effective first-line treatments for OCD. The guideline notes that the choice of initial treatment modality is individualized and depends on the following factors: (1) the nature and severity of the patient's symptoms; (2) co-occurring psychiatric and medical conditions; (3) the availability of CBT; and (4) the patient's past treatment history, current medications, capacities and preferences. The guideline also indicates that clomipramine, a mixed serotonin and

norepinephrine re-uptake inhibitor (SNRI) and selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors (SSRIs) – specifically, fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline, are the recommended agents. However, the guideline notes that SSRIs are usually the preferred initial agents to be used because of their less troublesome side-effect profile. In addition to the guideline recommendations, other published information on SSRI treatment for OCD proposes their usage in significantly higher doses than those employed in depression and for at least six months or longer, recognizing that increased side-effect burden may be counterbalanced by increased treatment efficacy (Marazziti et al., 2010; Pampaloni et al., 2010).

Since release of the APA guideline, published meta-analytic findings continued to support SSRIs, e.g., citalopram (not approved by FDA for treatment of OCD), fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, sertraline and paroxetine, as a treatment for OCD (Soomro et al., 2009). Findings from the 17 studies (3097 participants) that were reviewed in this analysis showed that all of these drugs had similar efficacy with a modest treatment effect overall (Soomro et al., 2009). Additionally, other meta-analytic findings argued strongly for the efficacy of paroxetine and escitalopram (not approved by FDA for treatment of OCD), and to a somewhat lesser degree for fluoxetine, as a longer-term and maintenance treatment in the prevention of OCD relapse. Moreover, researchers suggested from their analysis that worsening by five Y-BOCS points be considered a threshold for relapse in patient with OCD (Fineberg et al., 2007; Donovan et al., 2010). The Guideline Watch notes an August 2011 Drug Safety Communication from the FDA advising that citalopram should not be used in doses greater than 40 mg/day due it its potential for QTc prolongation APA, 2013).

Since clomipramine has such a well-established basis in the treatment of OCD, the team of Dell'Osso et al. conducted a critical review of studies in order to determine the anti-obsessional properties of another SNRI, venlafaxine (Dell'Osso et al., 2006). In their critical review of research, the investigators noted that in two double-blind active-comparison studies, venlafaxine was found equally as effective as paroxetine and clomipramine in the short- and intermediate-term. Additionally, they identified one double-blind trial and two case reports where venlafaxine was shown to be particularly effective in OCD patients who had not responded to other SSRIs. These findings mirror the adopted guideline and its suggestion to consider switching to venlafaxine when the patient has an inadequate response to treatment with a single SSRI. Authors argued the need for more rigorous clinical trials to confirm the efficacy of venlafaxine in treating OCD due to its greater tolerability than clomipramine (Dell'Osso et al, 2006).

A study examined the longitudinal use of SRIs in adult outpatients (n=252) with OCD who were receiving treatment in clinical settings to determine whether discontinuation of SRIs results in a worsening of OCD symptoms in the majority of patients who had achieved either partial or full remission while taking the SRIs (Grant et al., 2013). Among those who had achieved either partial or full remission in the five year follow-up period, only 14.1 percent of those in partial remission and 12.1 percent of those in full remission had stopped SRI treatment. The cumulative incidence of worsening of OCD after discontinuing SRI treatment was only 33.3 percent. Researchers suggested that although most patients currently remain on the same SRI and same dose over many years, discontinuation of SRI treatment may not always result in significant

worsening of OCD symptoms. Researchers suggested future randomized trials where patients are randomized to placebo or continued SRI therapy over an extended period where resumption of SRIs would be offered to those who relapse or whose symptoms worsen. Other findings of this study showed factors associated with less likelihood of patients discontinuing treatment with SRIs including older age, receipt of CBT, reported improvement from SRIs, and longer periods of SRI treatment. Patients most likely to discontinue medication were patients receiving low dose SRIs and those taking citalopram (Grant et al., 2013).

Studies on augmentation strategies for treatment-resistant OCD were reviewed by Marazitti et al. They reported that about one-third of these patients may have a refractory condition and that the strongest predictor of poor response seemed to be the presence of higher Y-BOCS symptom checklist scores on hoarding obsessions and compulsions (Marazitti et al., 2010). These authors and others indicated that clinical studies supported the use of haloperidol and risperidone added to an SSRI, but acknowledged that the data were mixed on the use of olanzapine as an augmenting agent to SSRIs in the treatment of OCD (Bloch et al., 2006; Marazitti et al., 2010). More recent meta-analyses continue to support the efficacy of risperidone as an augmenting agent to antidepressants in the treatment of OCD, but efficacy was counterbalanced with adverse effects and increased sedation (Maher et al., 2011; Depping et al., 2010). Quetiapine added to an SSRI was also more recently studied where meta-analytic findings revealed that quetiapine as an additive to clomipramine, fluoxetine and fluvoxamine at the lowest doses was superior to placebo groups (Denys et al., 2007). The comparative efficacy of aripiprazole and risperidone as augmenting agents was investigated in patients (n=41) who did not respond after 12 weeks of monotherapy with SSRIs; findings suggested that risperidone was more effective than aripiprazole (Selvi et al., 2011).

The APA Guideline Watch discusses newer studies strengthening the evidence and supporting some of the augmentation strategies described in the 2007 guideline. The Guideline Watch cautions that the utility of some augmentation agents, e.g., exposure and response prevention (ERP) and some second-generation antipsychotics, should be reevaluated on an ongoing basis due to the modest evidence supporting their use in augmentation (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). In a randomized controlled trial (in press at time Guideline Watch was published) to compare the effects of two SRI augmentation strategies compared to pill placebo, adults (n=100) with OCD of moderate severity who had received a therapeutic SRI dose for at least 12 weeks before entering the trial were randomized to one of the following while continuing treatment with SRI: risperidone (up to 4 mg/d for eight weeks; cognitive behavioral therapy consisting of exposure and ritual prevention (EX/RP) over 17 sessions delivered twice weekly; or placebo (Simpson et al., 2013). Results showed that adding EX/RP to SRIs was more effective than adding risperidone or pill placebo in outcome measures, i.e., reducing symptoms of OCD; improving insight, functioning, and quality of life. Of patients receiving EX/RP, 80 percent responded to treatment compared to 22.5 percent and 15 percent of those receiving risperidone and placebo, respectively. On any outcome measure, risperidone was not significantly more superior to placebo. This study noted that long-term SRI treatment may itself not be benign as most patients receiving placebo, EX/RP, or risperidone to augment SRI treatment reported treatment-emergent adverse effects. The percentages of patients reporting treatment

emergent adverse effects were 88 percent, 72 percent and 58 percent for those receiving risperidone, placebo or EX/RP, respectively. Researchers suggested that EX/RP should be the first-line treatment due to its superior efficacy and less negative adverse effects when compared to risperidone. They questioned whether patients with OCD receiving SRIs who do not respond favorably to the addition of EX/RP can benefit from risperidone augmentation. Researchers note the need for alternative medication strategies for patients with OCD receiving SRIs (Simpson et al., 2013).

Ressler et al. suggested that Simpson et al.'s conclusion that EX/RP should be the agent considered first for SRI treatment augmentation is supported by current data (Ressler et al., 2013). Authors reviewed other studies finding that adding medication to EX/RP does not achieve better outcome than EX/RP alone for OCD, with only one exception, i.e., the use of D-cycloserine in addition to EX/RP. Authors discuss how EX/RP retrains the brain's habit-forming circuitry so that the compulsive habit will not be activated during the occurrence of an activating cue. In conclusion, authors suggested that "there are likely unique aspects of brain function that are differentially targeted by medication and psychotherapeutic approaches. As the neurobiology of OCD and other disorders are further dissected, we can hope for progress with targeted combined pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy in which rationally designed therapeutics can be fully derived from our understanding of the brain, its dysfunction, and mechanisms of recovery" (Ressler et al., pg 1130, 2013).

The APA Guideline Watch noted studies suggesting that quetiapine as an augmentation agent may be effective in only a small subset of patients with treatment-resistant OCD and that studies suggest that aripiprazole may be an effective augmentation agent (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

The APA guideline presents a treatment algorithm of psychopharmacology that includes medication strategies that are to be used only in cases where the patient has shown little or no response to previous sequential treatment trials, i.e., augmentation with a second generation antipsychotic [SGA], adding CBT if not already provided, switching to a different SRI, augmentation with clomipramine or buspirone, pindolol, morphine sulfate, inositol or a glutamate antagonist. Drugs specified in the APA guideline for use with the most treatment-resistant patients include a switch to Damphetamine, tramadol or ondansetron monotherapies or to a monoaminoxidase inhibitor (MAOI). Using ondansetron in combination with a SSRI was investigated in a small (n=42) double-blind, controlled pilot study comparing patients receiving fluoxetine (20 mg./day) plus the antiemetic agent, ondansetron (4 mg./day) versus fluoxetine (20 mg./day) plus placebo. Study findings demonstrated positive effects for both study groups on obsessions and compulsions. Patients treated with the ondansetron, however, had significantly lower Y-BOS scores in weeks two through eight than the placebo augmented group. In addition, there were no differences in frequency of side effects between the groups (Soltani et al., 2010).

The APA Guideline Watch notes evidence suggesting that dysregulation involving the neurotransmitter glutamate may be a contributor of the pathophysiology of OCD. The Guideline Watch discusses trials of augmentation agents, i.e., topiramate, lamotrigine, memantine, pregabalin, N-acetylcysteine and glycine, thought to modulate glutamate. Research after publication of the Guideline Watch has shown that intravenous

infusion of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonist ketamine has potential for relieving symptoms of OCD (Medscape, 2013). Researchers suggested that although modulating glutamate may be promising for OCD patients, ketamine is not yet at a stage that it can be given safely to outpatients due to its side effects. In this study where unmedicated adults with OCD (n=15) received one intravenous infusion of ketamine 0.5mg/kg over 40 minutes followed by an infusion of saline at least a week later (or received the two infusions in the opposite order), half of the participants reported improvement in obsessions after receiving the ketamine infusion. None of the patients receiving placebo met the criteria of improvement in obsessions. Researchers suggested that ketamine can rapidly relieve symptoms of OCD with the effect lasting at least one week in OCD patients with constant intrusive thoughts. They noted that this study hold promise for other research on further ways to modulate the NMDA receptor with the rapid effects minus the side effects of ketamine (Medscape, 2013).

Neurostimulation

Neurostimulation continues to be investigated as a potential efficacious treatment solution for refractory OCD. While recent studies suggest the treatment is promising, it has not yet been approved by the FDA for the treatment for OCD. One study reviewed the modern literature regarding deep brain stimulation (DBS) in the treatment of therapy-refractory OCD (Blomstedt et al., 2015). Authors noted that based on current understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms behind OCD, it is not possible to identify the best target for an intervention with DBS. However, growing experience with rTMS through continued off label use has led some clinicians to state that that the standard target area for rTMS is the supplementary motor area (SMA), (Hollander, 2016). Clinical effects of DBS for OCD have been presented in 25 publications including a total of 90 individual patients. As a result of their review of the studies, authors concluded, "A therapy that will improve about one third of patients from severe to moderate OCD, and one third from severe to mild or no OCD, is promising for many patients suffering from severe therapy-refractory symptoms." However, the presented study comes mainly from nonrandomized studies of limited size. Further, no consensus exists regarding the target of choice for DBS in this condition. It must therefore be emphasized that DBS for OCD is currently an experimental therapy that should only be performed in clinical studies by multidisciplinary teams with substantial experience with DBS from other conditions (Blomstedt et al., 2015). A recent randomized study of subjects (Pallanti et al, 2016) refractory to SSRI treatment assigned half of the subjects to a control group where the SSRI was augmented with an antipsychotic medication. The other half of the subjects were assigned to five 20minute-long rTMS sessions per week for 3 weeks. Improvement was defined as at least 25% improvement from baseline as measured by the Yale Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale. Of the group receiving rTMS, 68% met the "improved" definition. Of the group receiving the treatment as usual with augmented medication, 24% met the definition.

The APA guideline reviews the initial research investigating the efficacy of Deep Brain Stimulation (DBS) on the treatment of treatment-resistant OCD. At time of publication, the adopted guideline specifies that early case reports and preliminary studies are promising and further research should be encouraged due "to the procedure's reversibility and adjustability in comparison with ablative neurosurgery and the

absence to date of serious side effects" (p.56).

Since release of the guideline and based on a review of the peer-reviewed literature, Magellan considers DBS used in the treatment of treatment-resistant OCD to be an investigational treatment. This determination is based on an evaluation of the research findings where they did not support the effect of DBS on health outcomes, its safety and efficacy against existing alternative treatments, and its ability to demonstrate that benefits outweigh the risks (Nuttin BJ et al., 2003; Greenberg et al., 2006; Mallet et al., 2008; Denys et al, 2010; Goodman et al., 2010; Greenberg et al., 2010).

While there have been reported positive results in reducing symptoms of refractory OCD, these results have been associated with substantial risk of serious adverse events in patients with either VC/VS (ventral capsule/ventral striatum) or subthalamic nucleus stimulation implantation sites used for the treatment of refractory OCD. These include severe risk such as bleeding, infection or hemiparesis. More definitive tests of the safety, efficacy and tolerability of DBS will require larger controlled trials using matched healthy controls and double-blind on-off stimulation controls, other stimulation targets/surgical procedures, and evaluation of long-term benefits (Magellan, 2012).

The APA Guideline Watch reports that DBS continues to be explored and that benefits as well as serious adverse events, e.g., intracerebral hemorrhage and infections, have been observed during treatment (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). In a later study, authors investigated the proportion of treatment-seeking OCD patients who met criteria for DBS (Garnaat et al., 2014). Investigators suggested that patients who remain severely ill and impaired even after first- and second-line treatments may meet criteria for DBS. They examined the comprehensive baseline data on diagnosis, severity, and treatment history of OCD patients from the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH)-supported Brown Longitudinal OCD Study and found that of 325 patients, only two met screening criteria for DBS. Their analysis, however, also highlighted an underutilization of efficacious treatments, showing that the most severely affected individuals had not been treated with sufficient variety of medications to rule out pharmacotherapy as a potentially effective option. Finding that behavioral psychotherapies were underutilized in treating OCD, they suggested that barriers to treatment need to be addressed. Investigators concluded that more information is needed on alternatives to DBS, e.g., intensive residential treatment programs, and that entry criteria for invasive treatments, e.g., DBS, need refinement.

An ablative procedure, i.e., limbic system surgery for treatment-refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder, was the subject of a study examining its efficacy and durability (Sheth et al., 2013). Changes in OCD and symptom severity were assessed at the initial and postoperative follow-up in patients (n=64) who underwent cingulotomy for refractory OCD. The definitions of full and partial symptom responses were Y-BOCS score reductions of ≥35 percent and 25 percent-34 percent, respectively. At the first postoperative follow-up, 35 percent of patients showed a full response and 7 percent had partial response. Repeat cingulotomy or subcaudate tractotomy was performed subsequently in 30 patients. At a five year follow-up, response rates were 47 percent and 22 percent for full and partial responses, respectively. Investigators concluded that limbic surgery based on initial cingulotomy is an effective treatment option for some

patients with severe OCD whose disease is refractory to conventional pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy.

A recent randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial investigated the efficacy of low-frequency (1 Hz) rTMS in patients with OCD (Hawken et al., 2016). Participants (n=22) were randomly assigned into one of two groups: ACTIVE or SHAM groups. rTMS was applied bilaterally and simultaneously over the sensory motor area. The Y-BOCS score at the end of the six-week treatment period showed a clinically significant decrease for the ACTIVE group receiving treatment compared both to baseline as well as to the SHAM group, and the effect was maintained over the following six weeks after completion of treatment. Researchers suggested future studies are needed extending the follow-up period to determine the duration of clinical efficacy and to determine the generalizability of the findings (Hawken et al., 2016).

The APA guideline also discusses early research on the use of Repetitive Transcranial Stimulation (TMS) in the treatment of treatment-resistant OCD. The guideline notes that the four published trials evaluated had findings that were "inconsistent, perhaps because the studies differed in design, stimulation sites, duration and stimulation parameters" (p. 55). The APA guideline recommends that the overall strength of evidence for TMS is low.

A clinical review published subsequent to the adopted guideline indicated that these studies had stimulation parameters that varied as follows: (1) both right and left medial prefrontal cortex (PFC), (2) alternating left or right PFC, (3) bilateral stimulation of the supplementary motor area (SMA) and (4) left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (Pigot et al., 2008). In this report, the authors noted that the three shamcontrolled trials in this group had negative results because the treatment courses may have been inadequate, underpowered (attributable to type II error) and not properly designed to control for comorbid depression in the OCD patients. Additionally, the authors stressed that the "neural circuitry implicated in the pathogenesis of OCD is not exclusively cortical. Given that TMS is a focal treatment that is known to result in cortical depolarization up to a depth of 2 cm, it is possible that prefrontal TMS is insufficient to modify abnormal subcortical circuitry in OCD, despite known transsynaptic effects" (Pigot et al., 2008, p. 1451).

Another study (n=20) by Kang et al. where sequential TMS was performed alternating over the right DLPFC and SMA, showed no therapeutic effect for obsessive-compulsive symptoms (Kang et al., 2009). Conversely, a newer stimulation parameter and treatment protocol, i.e., bilateral SMA, was studied in a small double-blind shamcontrolled study with more promising results and reduction in OCD symptomatology (Mantovani et al., 2010).

More recently, a published review of clinical trials on TMS treatment in the treatment of patients with OCD indicated that a total of 110 patients have been treated in 10 studies (Blom et al., 2011). Authors noted these results demonstrated only acute efficacy for obsessive-compulsive symptoms and no differences with sham treatment. Investigators also stressed that in order to generalize results of these studies, further research is necessary with more careful consideration of target regions and stimulation parameters, longer follow-up and use of double-blind, sham-controlled design in order

to draw conclusions about efficacy (Blom et al., 2011).

The APA Guideline Watch reports the findings of controlled trials of TMS that have produced negative results as well as suggestively positive results. Differences in these studies include the brain region stimulated as well as the frequency of the stimulus. In trials of high-frequency TMS in the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of patients with treatment-resistant OCD, no benefit was found from the treatment. In other studies, low-frequency stimulation in the supplemental motor area resulted in significantly greater reduction in OCD symptoms than sham treatment (after two weeks). Participants receiving active treatment had higher response rates at two weeks and at the 14-week follow-up (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Researchers performed an exploratory random-effects meta-analysis including 10 randomized controlled trials to assess the efficacy and acceptability of TMS in treating OCD (Berlim et al., 2013). Subjects with OCD (n=282), most with treatment resistant OCD, were randomized to active TMS or sham TMS in 14 sessions. This analysis found that neither high frequency TMS nor TMS targeted at the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) were more effective than sham TMS whereas low frequency TMS and TMS applied over the non-DLPFC regions, i.e., supplemental motor area or orbitofrontal cortex, yielded significant improvements in Y-BOCS scores. Researchers suggested that the efficacy of TMS appears to be comparable to other alternative augmentation strategies. They also suggested that future studies are needed to investigate enhancement of the effects of TMS on OCD, e.g., identification of more stimulation parameters and predicting which patients might benefit from the treatment. They concluded that definitive conclusions about the clinical utility of TMS for OCD cannot yet be drawn and that larger-scale and sufficiently powered randomized controlled trials are needed (Berlim et al., 2013).

Complementary and Alternative Medicine

A recent pilot study tested the feasibility and clinical benefits of 12-weeks of combined moderate-to-vigorous aerobic exercise and group CBT in patients whose mean age was 35 (n = 11) with moderate-to-severe, medication-refractory OCD (Rector et al., 2015). CBT was delivered in a group format incorporating exposure and response prevention with increasing emphasis on cognitive approaches for obsessions and compulsions. Adherence to exercise was measured by self-reported exercise session logs and weekly phone checks by research assistants and reported to exceed 80 percent OCD symptom reduction measured from pre- to post-treatment by Y-BOCS scores showed large, clinically significant improvements in severity of symptoms. Researchers noted that the results of this study demonstrate the "possible value of aerobic exercise as an adjunctive treatment in OCD" and "are proceeding with a large-scale, multi-site randomized controlled trial that will aim to overcome the limitations associated with this pilot investigation" (Rector et al., p. 338).

The only aspect of Complementary and Alternative Medicine (CAM) addressed by the APA guideline is yoga. The document briefly discusses the positive effects of a small study of Kundalini yoga versus mental mindfulness and relaxation response management as an established alternative treatment to OCD.

The CAM therapy of electroacupuncture (EA) was more recently studied in the treatment of refractory OCD in a small (n=19) pilot, waitlist-controlled trial (Zhang et al., 2009). All OCD patients participating had failed to fully respond to various classes of medications (e.g., anxiolytics, SSRIs/SNRIs, mood stabilizers, first and second generation antipsychotics), CBT or both and still exhibited persistent symptoms. Patients in the treatment group receiving EA (12 sessions) additional treatment to their current treatment displayed significantly greater improvements in OCD symptoms. Researchers speculated that EA could enhance the release of several endogenous neuropeptides in the hypothalamus and limbic regions, including endorphin, which may be deficient in patients suffering with OCD (Zhang et al., 2009).

Psychotherapy

A recent meta-analysis investigation, including 16 randomized controlled trials with participants meeting inclusion criteria (n=756), examined the efficacy of cognitive behavior therapy (CBT) for OCD (Olatunji et al., 2015). Control conditions included the following: stress management training, relaxation, pill placebo, anxiety management and wait-list. Analysis of results found that CBT was superior to control conditions in the improvement of both OCD symptoms and depression symptoms at post-treatment showing a large effect size. Researchers noted the need for future studies to determine the extent to which CBT produces long lasting symptom changes for patients with OCD. They reported the lack of a significant association between higher pretreatment OCD symptom severity or higher pretreatment depression and lower CBT effect size. Findings were consistent with other studies showing relatively equivalent effects for different treatment types, i.e., CT and ERP. The number of CBT sessions was unrelated to CBT effect sizes as were intensity of treatment and magnitude of treatment. Researches emphasize that "there may be no added benefit to extensive sessions given that standard CBT for OCD can stay cost-effective without losing efficacy" (Olatunji et al, p. 228).

Using a meta-analytic approach, a recent study evaluated the efficacy of remote cognitive behavior therapy for OCD (Wootton, 2015). Included in this meta-analysis were 18 studies including individuals with OCD (n=823) whose mean age was 31 years. Treatments included 23 remote conditions, e.g., videoconferencing administered CBT (vCBT), telephone administered CBT (tCBT), computerized CBT (cCBT), internet administered CBT (iCBT) and bibliotherapy administered CBT (bCBT). High intensity remote treatments included vCBT and tCBT, both of which provide skills and length of sessions typically the same as in traditional face-to-face treatment with the patient and therapist interacting in real-time. Low intensity remote treatments, i.e., cCBT, iCBT and bCBT, also provide skills much the same as in face-to-face treatment and may include some clinician contact or be self-guided, although not in real time. All participants had moderate symptoms at baseline according to the Y-BOCS score. Control conditions included face-to-face treatment, attention controls, relaxation training and waitlist controls. Researchers found that remote treatment, regardless of methodology delivered, was more effective than no treatment, producing a decrease in symptoms of a large magnitude, with outcomes similar to face-to-face treatment. Researchers suggested that the amount of therapist contact may be a moderating factor and noted that the effect size in high intensity treatments was larger than in low intensity treatments although symptoms were decreased in both treatments. They

concluded, "According to the findings of this meta-analysis an entirely remote stepped-care treatment may be possible where low intensity remote treatments (such as iCBT or bCBT) are offered as a first step in a stepped-care treatment for OCD, followed by higher intensity remote treatments (such as vCBT or tCBT if required" (Wootton, p.111). While suggesting that remote treatment may be as effective as face-to-face treatment, researchers also noted, "across each of these studies the effect size differences are in the favor of face-to-face treatment and further research is required to elucidate the differences in outcome between different types of remote treatment and face-to-face treatment." They suggested further investigation in the future due to the small number of randomized controlled trials that have been conducted to date comparing face-to-face and remote treatment.

Noting that although CBT with EX/RP is recognized as the most effective treatment for OCD, authors also pointed to the many barriers to accessibility, including restricted access in rural areas and to trained clinicians, as well as high cost (Pearcy et al., 2016). A meta-analysis, including eighteen studies (randomized controlled trials or quasi-experimental studies) that included adults with OCD (n=1570), investigated the efficacy of self-help treatment with a particular focus on therapeutic contact within the context of a stepped care model (Pearcy et al., 2015). Studies were categorized depending on amount of therapeutic contact as follows: self-administered, predominately self-help, or minimal-therapist contact self-help. Researchers sought to determine the impact of the amount of therapist contact on outcomes, irrespective of whether the self-help treatments were mainstream or alternative. Results showed that as therapeutic contact increased, effect size increased:

- Self-administered self-help pooled subgroup effect size at posttreatment - .33 (small total effect size)
- Predominantly Self-Help pooled subgroup effect size at post- treatment .68 (moderate total effect size)
- o Minimal-Therapist Contact Self-Help pooled subgroup effect at post-treatment 1.08 (large total effect size).

Researchers noted a downward trend in drop-out rates that occurred as therapeutic contact increased; the self-administered group had the highest dropout rate followed by the predominantly self-help group and the minimal self-help group. This study showed evidence of the efficacy of internet CBT for OCD with minimal-therapist contact self-help, but there is a lack of current randomized controlled trials for the treatment of OCD using CBT or ERP through self-administered self-help with no therapist contact. Researchers suggested the need for randomized controlled trials using CBT or ERP through self-administered self-help to investigate stepped care (Pearcy et al., 2016).

A recent, small randomized controlled study evaluated the feasibility, acceptability and efficacy of a brief adjunctive intervention for family members of adult patients with OCD (Thompson-Hollands et al., 2015). Patients (n=18) with a mean age of 35.44 years received standard ERP while a family member of each patient was randomized to either receive or not receive the brief adjunctive intervention. The intervention included two sessions for a family member within two weeks of the patient beginning ERP and another session two weeks later. The intervention began with psychoeducation, including the model of OCD and the rationale for ERP.

Accommodation, as a common although maladaptive family response, was openly discussed. The sessions included skills training to reduce accommodation, which "serves the same maladaptive function as compulsions" (Thompson-Hollands et al., p. 222). Results of this 25 week study showed that the intervention successfully reduced family accommodation, based on scores on the Family Accommodation Scale for Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Average accommodation scores of family members in the control group remained little changed by the end of the study (remained at 78 percent of their baseline levels), while the scores of family members in the intervention group dropped substantially (dropped to 37 percent of baseline levels). Regression analysis found that "change in family accommodation from baseline accounted for a significant amount of variance in later OCD symptoms" in the intervention group and suggested, "this adjunctive intervention produces more rapid treatment response compared to traditional ERP alone" (Thompson-Hollands, et al., p. 218).

As noted earlier, the APA guideline recommends both SRIs and CBT as safe and effective first-line treatments for OCD. The guideline indicates that CBT used to treat patients with OCD relies primarily on exposure and response (aka relapse) prevention (ERP) or cognitive therapy (CT) techniques and acknowledges that the evidence base is strongest for ERP. Likewise, the guideline acknowledges supporting data on the use of CBT utilizing such techniques as identifying, challenging and modifying dysfunctional beliefs when combined with behavioral experiments or used in conjunction with ERP. A more recently published meta-analysis (seven studies) of CT, Behavior Therapy (BT) or CBT was consistent with the previous body of research in this area demonstrating their effectiveness, and also showed that baseline level of OCD severity and depressive symptom level predicted the degree of response (Gava et al., 2007).

Since the guideline's release, the research team of Rosa-Alcazar et al. reported that although several meta-analyses have shown the benefits of CBT, the differential effectiveness of various approaches has been inconclusive thus far (Rosa-Alcazar et al., 2008). Results of this particular meta-analytic investigation of 19 studies showed that the treatment effect size estimates for exposure with response prevention (ERP) alone, cognitive restructuring (CR) alone and ERP plus CR were very similar. Also, their findings indicated that therapist-guided exposure was better than therapist- assisted self-exposure, and that exposure in vivo combined with exposure in imagination was better than exposure in vivo alone. Researchers have also noted that these techniques yield greater improvements for obsessions than for compulsions (Rosa-Alcazar et al., 2008). In addition, a systematic review of studies on exposure-in-vivo interventions was conducted on employed people with anxiety disorders, e.g., OCD, PTSD and mixed OCD with severe phobias. Findings showed that in the four OCD studies analyzed, work-related adverse outcomes, i.e., work functioning and sickness absence, were reduced with exposure-in-vivo treatment compared to other anxiety treatments, i.e., self-relaxation, anti-exposure therapy combined with clomipramine, response prevention and marital therapy, or a waiting list (Noordik et al., 2010).

The Guideline Watch reported a study comparing the efficacy of acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) with relaxation therapy in patients (n=79) with OCD, finding significantly greater decrease in symptoms following ACT than relaxation therapy both posttreatment and at three month follow up. A later study compared the effects of two brief interventions for intrusive, obsession-like thoughts on psychological processes and obsessional symptoms: 1) exposure and response prevention (ERP) and

2) ACT (Fabricant et al., 2013). In this study, participants (n=56) who were college students with obsessional thoughts were randomly assigned to a single brief intervention with ERP, ACT or the control condition, i.e., expressive writing (EW). Findings showed that obsessional symptoms significantly declined from pretest to follow-up in all three conditions with no significant differences between the three conditions. All three conditions also reported decreased dysfunctional beliefs about intrusive thoughts with no significant between groups differences. Both the participants in ACT and ERP showed increased willingness to contact intrusive thoughts while the control group reported a slight decrease. Researchers suggested that the processes by which ACT and ERP promote change in obsessional symptoms may not be different, enacting change using similar mechanisms. They suggested more research is needed to understand how multisession ERP and ACT based treatments affect obsessional thoughts (Fabricant et al., 2013).

The APA guideline recognizes that there are limited clinical trial data on the efficacy of group behavioral therapies and acknowledges the need for additional research for this modality. Since then, a meta-analysis of 13 trials conducted by the team of Jónsson et al. examined the treatment effect sizes of group CBT/ERP against waitlist controls. Measuring clinical outcome using the Y-BOCS, their findings showed that group treatment is an effective treatment format in ERP or CBT for the treatment of OCD. However, researchers noted that these positive effects for CBT/ERP group treatment do not achieve change of the same magnitude as the individual formats of the respective treatments in previously reported studies (Jónsson et al., 2008; Jónsson et al., 2011).

After publication of the APA guideline, formats have been developed for behavioral therapies using new technology and with reported positive results. Findings from one study of 72 patients who received 10 weekly sessions of ERP delivered by telephone showed that clinical outcomes of this treatment was equally as effective as treatment delivered face to face (Lovell et al., 2006). Similarly, findings from a British systematic review of four studies evaluating the effectiveness of computer-guided therapy (using the software program, *BTSteps*), revealed that it was as good as therapist-led CBT for reducing time spent in rituals and obsessions (Tumur et al., 2007). Moreover, these researchers found that computerized CBT showed improved outcomes in work functioning, home management, social activities and private leisure activities and was superior to relaxation therapy in the treatment of patients with OCD (Tumur et al., 2007). Another pilot study (n=106 intervention; n=155 waitlist) on the effectiveness of an online CBT-based support group intervention showed promising results for people with compulsive hoarding (Muroff et al., 2010).

The Guideline Watch discusses studies examining the utility of telephone-based ERP, internet-based ERP, and computer-guided self-help for OCD. In a later study, authors reviewed the existing literature on the utility of computer-assisted assessment and treatment specific to OCD, examining the potential of the technology and addressing current challenges in the assessment and treatment of OCD (Lind et al., 2013). They acknowledged that the body of research on the utility of computers in the assessment and treatment of OCD is relatively small, but also acknowledged the potential of the use of a mobile phone to spontaneously simulate intrusive obsessional thoughts, allowing the patient to practice specific techniques outside of sessions with therapist.

In children and adolescents, the APA guideline indicates that treatment should often

start with CBT or with a combination of psychotherapy and an SRI. The guideline denotes ERP as an effective CBT approach for use in the pediatric population. More recently published meta-analytical findings continued to provide data supporting their value (Barrett et al., 2008; Watson et al., 2008; Munoz-Salmando et al. 2008; In-Albon et al., 2007). The research team of Barrett et al. reported that results from exposure-based CBT trials have consistently shown remission rates ranging from 40 percent to 85 percent across studies. Authors also acknowledged that individual exposure-based CBT had the strongest evidence of efficacy followed by family-focused individual or group formats for the treatment of child and adolescent OCD (Barrett et al., 2008). A retrospective case note review conducted in the United Kingdom of children and adolescents (n=75) treated for OCD with CBT reported that the total Children's Y-BOCS was significantly reduced and gains were maintained at long-term follow-up (mean f/u=5.5 yrs.). Positive outcomes did not differ for those either on concurrent or previously prescribed medication (Nakatani et al., 2009).

A more recent analysis was conducted to examine the links between insight and demographic, cognitive and clinical features among children and adolescents with OCD participating in a psychosocial treatment trial. Lewin et al. measured insight in youths with OCD (n=71; mean age = 11.7, 63 percent males) using a semi-structured interview along with several other validated clinical measurement tools for anxiety, OCD, depression, perceived control, intelligence and functioning. Results indicated that youths with OCD had poorer intellectual function, depressive symptomatology, and decreased perception of control over their environment. In addition, they possessed reduced adaptive functioning and were likely to have low insight into the irrational nature of their OCD symptoms. Investigators stressed that these issues were important to address in order to maximize therapeutic approaches tailored to this group (Lewin et al., 2010).

Combined Treatment

Based on meta-analyses, an estimate of up to one-third of adults with OCD respond acutely to augmenting SRIs with antipsychotics, but the long-term response to antipsychotic augmentation has not been studied (Foa et al., 2015). In a recent trial, patients with OCD (n=100) who were receiving either clomipramine or a SSRI for at least 12 weeks while remaining symptomatic were randomized to eight weeks of risperidone, EX/RP including twice-weekly 90-minute sessions, or pill placebo during the acute phase of the study. Patients (n=40) who responded (Y-BOCS scores decreased at least 25 percent) during the eight-week period entered a six-month maintenance phase where the two augmentation strategies continued. Of the patients receiving EX/RP during the acute phase, 60 percent were responders, whereas only 16 percent of those receiving risperidone were responders. However, those who responded to either EX/RP or risperidone maintained their gains over the six-month maintenance phase. Researchers concluded that these results "strongly support augmenting SRIs with EX/RP rather than risperidone in adults with OCD" and further suggested that "ongoing EX/RP treatment can help many patients maintain their acute gains" (Foa et al., p. 449).

A recent study included adults with OCD (n=32) who had failed to respond to 12 weeks of SRI treatment after which they were randomized to eight weeks of SRI augmentation

with risperidone or pill placebo, again being classified as non- responders (McLean et al., 2015). Non-responders to risperidone and pill placebo (n=20 and 12, respectively) then elected to crossover to 17 twice weekly treatments of EX/RP. At post-treatment, more than half of the participants were responders with 15 percent achieving excellent response. Authors noted the importance of this study as it shows that EX/RP is effective for OCD patients who continue to report clinically significant OCD symptoms after SRI treatment and after SRI augmentation with either risperidone or placebo. Researchers found that the participants either maintained gains or showed improvement to week 32 follow-up. Researchers concluded, "This study adds to the body of evidence supporting the use of EX/RP with patients who continue to report clinically significant OCD symptoms after multiple pharmacologic trials" (McLean et al., 2015).

The APA guideline specifies that combined treatment (SRI and CBT) is more effective than monotherapy for some patients but that it is *not* necessary for all patients. Herein, the document notes that combined treatment should be considered for patients who have had an unsatisfactory response to monotherapy, who have co- occurring psychiatric conditions for which SRIs are effective, or who wish to limit the duration of medication treatment. Additionally, the guideline denotes that combined treatment may also be considered for patients with severe OCD, since the medication may diminish symptom severity and allow the patient to engage in CBT.

One randomized controlled trial looked at the effects of sequencing the provision of behavioral therapy to patients already receiving an adequate SRI dose (Simpson et al., 2008). The study provided some 17 sessions of CBT (either twice weekly ERP or stress management) to 108 adult outpatients diagnosed with OCD while continuing SRI and adjuvant drug treatment, e.g., antipsychotics, benzodiazepine, mood stabilizer, stimulant and others. Results showed that the addition of ERP reduced OCD symptom severity more than the addition of stress management training in patients with clinically significant OCD despite an adequate SRI trial. Also, more patients who received ERP rather than stress management training were treatment responders and achieved minimal symptoms. Nonetheless, researchers concluded that the 17 sessions of CBT was not sufficient to help most of the patients in the study achieve minimal symptoms (Simpson et al., 2008).

A systematic review and meta-analysis examined the evidence from 13 head-to-head randomized controlled trials which compared behavioral therapy and SRI pharmacotherapy and their combination in the treatment of patients with OCD (n=959) in an outpatient setting (Romanelli el al., 2014). SRIs compared with behavioral therapy included SSRIs as well as clomipramine while behavioral therapy included exposure and response/ritual prevention (ExRP) and CBT. In trials comparing behavioral therapy with overall SRI pharmacotherapy (including both SSRIs and clomipramine), the results showed behavioral therapy was more effective. Researchers noted that where behavioral therapy was compared with SSRIs alone, it was not more effective. Combination of behavioral therapy and an SRI was more effective than treatment with SRI alone, whereas no difference in treatment effects was found between combination therapy and behavioral therapy alone. Researchers suggested more research is needed to evaluate the relative efficacy of the interventions (Romanelli et al., 2014).

The Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Augmentation of Pharmacotherapy in Pediatric Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder Treatment Study II (POTS II) was conducted in order to determine the efficacy of combined treatment in a pediatric population showing partial response to SRI medication, e.g., citalopram, fluoxetine, fluoxamine, paroxetine, sertraline, (Franklin et al, 2011). This 12-week controlled trial of pediatric outpatients, (n=124) aged 7-17 years, randomized participants to one of three treatment strategies: (1) medication only, (2) medication management plus instructions in CBT, and (3) medication management plus full CBT sessions. All patients had a score of 16 or higher on the Children's Y-BOCS and positive outcome was determined by a change in this score of 30 percent or more. The modality of "instructions in CBT" included psychoeducation, establishing/reevaluating a simple stimulus hierarchy, identifying exposure plus response prevention targets, homework, and two telephone checks at home for guidance on implementation. Study results showed the medication management plus CBT was superior to the other two strategies on all outcome measures as an augmentation to SRI maintenance treatment. These findings corroborate results of the earlier POTS I, where combined treatment was also found to be superior in acute treatment of OCD in the pediatric population (Franklin et al., 2011).

Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) Measure: Follow-Up after Hospitalization (FUH)

The Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) is a set of performance measures developed and maintained by the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA). The HEDIS measure that includes obsessive-compulsive disorder diagnoses is Follow-Up after Hospitalization for Mental Illness (FUH). This measure, like almost all HEDIS measures, focuses on processes, rather than on outcome measures. Patients with OCD who have been treated in an acute inpatient setting should receive a follow-up visit within 30 days of discharge, preferably within the first seven days after the discharge.

Obtaining Copies of the APA Guideline

Copies of the Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, First Edition may be obtained through the APA at www.psych.org, or by calling (800) 368-5777, or by U.S. mail at:

American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc. 1000 Wilson Blvd., Suite 1825 Arlington, VA 22209-3901

Provider Feedback

Magellan welcomes feedback on our clinical practice guidelines. We take all suggestions and recommendations into consideration in our ongoing review of the guidelines. Comments may be submitted to:

Medical Policy Department Magellan Healthcare CPG@MagellanHealth.com

References

- 1. Albert U, Bogetto F, Maina G, Saracco P, Brunatto C, Mataix-Cols D. Family accommodation in obsessive-compulsive disorder: Relation to symptom dimensions, clinical and family characteristics. *Psychiatry* 179 2010; 204-211.
- 2. American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders Fifth Edition DSM-5*TM. Washington, DC, American Psychiatric Publishing.
- 3. American Psychiatric Association Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, First Edition. Published July 2007.
- 4. American Psychiatric Association. Guideline Watch (March 2013): Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients With Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Accessed online on May 15, 2014 at http://psychiatryonline.org/pdfaccess.ashx?ResourceID=5585590&PDFSource=6.
- 5. Amerigen MV, Simpson W, Patterson B, et al. Pharmacological treatment strategies in obsessive compulsive disorder: a cross-sectional view in nine international OCD centers. *J Psychopharmacol* 2014; 28(6): 596-602.
- 6. Barrett PM, Farrell L, Pina AA, Peris TS, Piacentini. Evidence-Based Psychosocial Treatments for Child and Adolescent Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology 2008*; 37(1): 131-155.
- 7. Benito K, Storch EA. Assessment of obsessive-compulsive disorder: review and future direction. *Expert Rev. Neurother 2011*; 1192: 287-298.
- 8. Berlim Mt, Neufeld NH, Van den Eynde F. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) for obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD): an exploratory meta- analysis of randomized and sham-controlled trials. *J Psychiatr Res* 2013; 47:999- 1006.
- 9. Black DW, Shaw M, Blum N. Pathological gambling and compulsive buying: do they fall within an obsessive-compulsive spectrum? *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience 2010*; Vol 12, No. 2.
- 10. Bloch MH, Landeros-Weisenberger A, Kelmendi B, Coric V, Bracken MB, Leckman JF. A systematic review: antipsychotic augmentation with treatment refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry* 2006; 11: 622-632.
- 11. Bloch MH, Landeros-Weisenberger A, Rosario MC, Pittenger C, Leckman JF. Meta- Analysis of the Symptom Structure of Obsessive-compulsive Disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* 2008; 165: 1532-1542.
- 12. Bloch MH, McGuire J, Landeros-Weisenberger A, Leckman JF, Pittenger C. Metaanalysis of the dose-response relationship of SSRI in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry* 2010; 15: 850-855.
- 13. Blom RM, Figee M, Denys D. Update on Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder: Different Targets. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* 2011; 13:289-294.
- 14. Blomstedt P, Sjöberg, Hansson M, Bodlund O, Hariz MI. Deep brain stimulation in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Focus* 2015; 13(2): 213-221.
- 15. Brakoulias V, Starcevic V, Belloch A, Brown C, Ferrao YA, Fontenelle LF, Lochner C, Marazziti D, Matsunaga H, Miguel EC, Reddy YCJ, do Rosario MC, Shavitt RG, Shyam Sundar A, Stein DJ, Torres AR, Viswasam K Compr Psychiatry. 2017;76:79. Epub 2017 Apr 12.

- 16. Butwick A, Gmitrowicz A. Symptom clusters in obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD): influence of age and age of onset. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2010; 19: 365-370.
- 17. Deep Brain Stimulation (DBS) for the treatment of treatment-resistant depression (TRD) and treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD). *Technology Assessment Report.* Magellan Healthcare. Revised June 2009.
- 18. Dell'Osso B, Nestadt G, Allen A, Hollander E. Serotonin-Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors in the Treatment of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder: A Critical Review. *J Clin Psychiatry* 67:4, April 2006.
- 19. deLuca V, Gershenzon V, Burroughs E, Javaid N, Richter MA. Age at Onset in Canadian OCD patients: Mixture analysis and systematic comparison with other studies. *Journal of Affective Disorders 2011*; 133: 300-304.
- 20. Denys D, Fineberg N, Carey PD, Stein DJ. Quetiapine Addition in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder: Is Treatment Outcome Affected by Type and Dose of Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors? *Biol Psychiatry* 2007; 61: 412-414.
- 21. Denys D, Mantione M, Figee M, van den Munckhop P, Koerselman F, Westenberg H, Bosch A, Schuurman R. Deep Brain Stimulation of the Nucleus Accumbens for Treatment-Refractory Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2010; 67 (10).
- 22. Donovan MR, Glue P, Kolluri S, Emir B. Comparative efficacy of antidepressants in preventing relapse in anxiety disorder A meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2010; 123: 9-16.
- 23. Durdle H, Gorey KM, Stewart SH. A Meta-Analysis Examining the Relations Among Pathological Gambling, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, and Obsessive-Compulsive Traits. *Psychological Reports* 2008; 103: 485-498.
- 24. Early Onset of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Associated Comorbidity. *Depression and Anxiety* 2009; 26: 1012-1017.
- 25. El-Guebaly N, Mudry T, Zohar J, Tavares H, Potenza MN. Compulsive features in behavioral addictions: the case of pathological gambling. *Addiction*. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03546.x.
- 26. Fabricant LE, Abramowitz JS, Dehlin JP, Twohig MP. A comparison of two brief interventions for obsessional thoughts: exposure and acceptance. *J Cogn Psychother: an International Quarterly* 2013; 27(3): 195-209.
- 27. Farrell LJ, Waters AM, Boschen MJ, et al. Difficult-to-treat pediatric obsessive-compulsive disorder: feasibility and preliminary results of a randomized pilot trial of D-cycloserine-augmented behavior therapy. Depress Anxiety. 2013;30(8):723
- 28. Fayad, SM, Guzick, AG, Reid, AM, Mason, DM, Bertone, A, Foote, KD, Okun MS, Goodman WK, Ward HE (2016, December 08). Six-Nine Year Follow-Up of Deep Brain Stimulation for Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed?term=27930748
- 29. Fineberg NA, Pampaloni I, Pallanti S, Ipser J, Stein DJ. Sustained response versus relapse: the pharmacotherapeutic goal for obsessive-compulsive disorder. *International Clinical Psychopharmacology* 2007; 22: 313-322.
- 30. Foa EB, Simpson HB, Rosenfield D et al. Six-month outcomes from a randomized trial augmenting serotonin reuptake inhibitors with exposure and ritual prevention or risperidone in adults with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* 2015; 76(4):440-446.
- 31. Fontenell LF, Hasler G. The analytical epidemiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder: Risk factors and correlates. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and*

- Biological Psychiatry 2008; 32:1-15.
- 32. Fornaro M, Gabrielli F, Albano C, Fornaro S, Rizzato S, Mattei C, Solano P, Vinciguerra V, Fornaro P. Obsessive-compulsive disorder and related disorders: a comprehensive survey. *Annals of General Psychiatry* 2009, 8:13.
- 33. Franklin ME, Sapyta J, Freeman JB, Khanna M, Compton S, Almirall D, Moore P, Choate-Summers M, Garcia A, Edson AL, Foa EB, March JS. Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Augmentation of Pharmacotherapy in Pediatric Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. *JAMA*, 2011.
- 34. Garnaat SL, Greenberg BD, Sibrava NJ, Goodman WK, Mancebo MC, Eisen JL, Rasmussen SA. Who qualifies for deep brain stimulation for OCD? Data from a Naturalistic clinical sample. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2014; 26(1): 81-86.
- 35. Gava I, Barbui GI, Aguglia E, Carlino D, Churchill R, DeVanna M, McGuire H. Psychological treatments versus treatment as usual for obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 2, Art. No.: CD005333.DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005222.pub2.
- 36. Glazier K, Swing M, and McGinn LK. Half of obsessive-compulsive disorder cases misdiagnosed: vignette-based survey of primary care physicians. *J Clin Psychiatry* 2015; 76(6): e761-7.
- 37. Goodman WK, Foote KD, Greenberg BD, Ricciuti N, Bauer R, Ward H, Shapira NA, Wu SS, Hill CL, Rasmussen SA, Okun MS. Deep Brain Stimulation for Intractable Obsessive Compulsive Disorder: Pilot Study Using a Blinded, Staggered-Onset Design. *Biol Psychiatry* 2010; 67: 535-542.
- 38. Grant JE, Mancebo MC, Weinhandl E, Odlaug B, Eisen JL, Rasmussen SA. Longitudinal course of pharmacotherapy in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol* 2013; 28(4):200-205.
- 39. Greenberg BD, Gabriels LLA, Malone DA, Rezai AR, Friehs GM, Okun MS, Shapira NA, Goote KD, Cosyns PR, Kubu CS, Malloy PF, Salloway SP, Giftakis JE, Rise MT, Machado AG, Baker KB, Stypulkowski PH, Goodman WK, Rasmussen SA, Nuttin BJ. Deep brain stimulation of the ventral internal capsule/ventral striatum for obsessive-compulsive disorder: world wide experience. *Molecular Psychiatry* 2010; 15; 64-79.
- 40. Hanna GL, Himle JA, Hanna BS, Gold KJ, Gillespie BW. Major Depressive Disorder in a Family Study of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder With Pediatric Probands. *Depression and Anxiety* 2011; 28: 501-508.
- 41. Hawken ER, Dilkov D, Kaludiev E, Simek S, Zhanag F, Milevvv R. Transcranial magnetic stimulation of the supplementary motor area in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder: a multi-site study. *Int J Mol Sci* 2016; 17: 420.
- 42. Hollander E, Dell'Osso B. New Developments in and Evolving Field. July 2005. Accessed website http://www.psychiatrictimes.com/display/article/10168/52531 on May 11, 2010.
- 43. Hollander E, Kim S, Braun A, Simeon D, Zohar J. Cross-cutting issues and future directions for the OCD spectrum. *Psychiatry Research* 2009; 170: 3-6.
- 44. In-Albon T, Schneider S. Psychotherapy of Childhood Anxiety Disorder: A Meta-Analysis. *Psychother Psychosom* 2007; 76:15-24.
- 45. <u>Issari Y, Jakubovski E, Bartley CA, et al. Early onset of response with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in obsessive-compulsive disorder: a meta-analysis.</u> <u>J Clin Psychiatry 2016; 77:e605.</u>
- 46. Jonsson H, Hougaard E, Bennedsen BE. Randomized comparative study of group versus individual cognitive behavioural therapy for obsessive compulsive

- disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2011: 123: 387-397.
- 47. Jónsson H, Hougaard E. Group cognitive behavioural therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 2009: 119: 98-106.
- 48. Kang JI, Kim CH, Namkoong K, Lee CI, Kim SJ. A randomized controlled study of sequentially applied repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* 2009; 70 (912): 1645-51.
- 49. Komossa K, Depping AM, Meyer M, Kissling W, Leucht S. Second-generation antipsychotics for obsessive-compulsive disorder (Review). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2010, Issue 12. Art. No.: CD00814.
- 50. Lafleur DL, Petty C, Mancuso E, McCarthy K, Biederman J, Faro A, levy H, Geller DA. Traumatic events and obsessive compulsive disorder in children and adolescents: is there a link? *Journal of Anxiety Disorders* 2011; 25: 513-519.
- 51. Leckman JF, Denys D, Simpson HB, Matiax-Cols D, Hollander E, Saxena S, Miguel E, Rauch SL, Goodman WK, Phillips KA, Stein DJ. Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder: A Review of the Diagnostic Criteria and Possible Subtypes and Dimensional Specifiers for DSM-V. *Depression and Anxiety* 2010; 27: 507-527.
- 52. Lennertz L, Grabe HJ, Ruhrmann S, Rampacher F, Vogeley A, Schulze-Rauschenback S, Ettelt S, Meyer K, Kraft S, Reck C, Pukrop R, John U, Freyberger HJ, Klosterkotter J, Maier W, Falkai P, Wagner M. Perceived parental rearing in subjects with obsessive-compulsive disorder and their siblings. *Acta Pschiatr Scand* 2010: 121: 280-288.
- 53. Lewin AB, Bergman RL, Peris TS, Chang S, McCracken JT, Piacentini J. Correlates of insight among youth with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 2010; 51(5): 603-611.
- 54. Lind C, Boschen MJ, Morrissey. Technological advances in psychotherapy; implications for the assessment and treatment of obsessive compulsive disorder. *J Anxiety Disord* 2013; 27: 47-55.
- 55. Lovell K, Cox D, Haddock G, Jones C, Raines D, Garvey R, Roberts C, Hadley. Telephone administered cognitive behaviour therapy for treatment of obsessive compulsive disorder: randomized controlled non-inferiority trial. *BMJ*. doi:10.1136/bmj.38940.355602.80 (published 25 August 2006).
- 56. Magellan Healthcare. Technology Report: Deep Brain Stimulation (DBS) for the treatment of treatment-resistant depression (TRD), treatment-resistant obsessive- compulsive disorder (OCD) and Tourette syndrome.
- 57. Maher AR, Maglione M, Bagley S, Suttorp M, Hu JH, Ewing B, Wang Z, Timmer M, Sultzer D, Shekelle PG. Efficacy and Comparative Effectiveness of Atypical Antipsychotic Medications for Off-Label uses in Adults. *JAMA* 2011, 306, No. 12.
- 58. McLean CP, Zandberg LJ, Meter PEV. Exposure and response prevention helps adults with obsessive-compulsive disorder who do not respond to pharmacological augmentation strategies. *J Clin Psychiatry* 2015; 65(12): 16533-57
- 59. Mantovani A, Simpson HB, Fallon BA, Rossi S, Lisanby SH. Randomized sham-controlled trial of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* 2010; 13 92): 217-27.
- 60. Mataix-Cols D, Fernandez de la Cruz L, Monzani B, et al. D. Cycloserine Augmentation of Exposure-Based Cognitive Behavior Therapy for Anxiety, Obessive-Compulsive and Posttraumatic Stress Disorders. *JAMA Psychiatry* 2017 74:501-510

- 61. Mataix-Cols D, Boman M, Monzani B, Rück, Serlachius E, Lăngström N, Lichtenstein Pl. Population-based, multigenerational family clustering study of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Jama Psychiatry* 2013; 70(7):709-717.
- 62. Mataix-Cols D, Frost RO, Pertusa A, Clark LA, Saxena S, Leckman JF, Stein DJ, Matsunaga H, Wilhelm S. Hoarding Disorder: A New Diagnosis for DSM-V? *Depression and Anxiety* 2010; 27: 556-572.
- 63. Matteisen M, Samuels JF, Wang Y, et al. Genome-wide association study in obsessive-compulsive disorder: results from the OCGAS. *Mol Psychiatry* 2015; 20(3): 337-344.
- 64. Medscape (2013). Ketamine may offer rapid relief from OCD symptoms. Accessed online on May 15, 2014 at http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/805179.
- 65. Merrill A, Gershuny B, Baer L, Jenike MA. Depression in Comorbid Obsessive-compulsive Disorder and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychology 2011;* Vol. 67(6): 624-628.
- 66. Munoz-Solomando A, Kendall T, Whittington CJ. cognitive behavioral therapy for children and adolescents. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry* 2008; 21:332-337.
- 67. Muroff J, Steketee G, Himle J, Frost R. Delivery of internet treatment for compulsive hoarding (D.I.T.C.H.) *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 2010; 48:79-85.
- 68. Nakatani E, Mataix-cols D, Micali N, Turner C, Heyman I. Outcomes of Cognitive Behaviour Therapy for Obsessive compulsive Disorder in a clinical Setting: A 10-Year Experience from a Specialist OCD Service for Children and Adolescents. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health 2009*; 14, No. 3:133-139.
- 69. Noordik E, van der Klink JJL, Lingen EF, Nieuwenhuijsen K, van Kijk FJH. Exposure-in-vivo containing interventions to improve work function of workers with anxiety disorder: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 2010, 10:598.
- 70. Olatunji BO, Davis ML, Powers MB, Smits JAJ. Cognitive-behavioral therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder: a meta-analysis of treatment outcome and moderators. *Focus* 2015; 13(2): 222-231.
- 71. Pallanti S, Marras A, Salerno L, Makris N, Hollander E. Better than treated as usual. Transcranial magnetic stimulation augmentation in selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder, mini-review and pilot open label trial. J Psychopharmacol. 2016 Jun; 30(6):568-78. doi: 10.1177/0269881116628427. Epub 2016 Feb 3
- 72. Pampaloni I, Sivakamuran T, Hawley CJ, Allaq AA, Farrow J, Nelson S, Fineberg NA. High-dose selective reuptake inhibitors in OCD: a systematic retrospective case notes survey. *Journal of Psychopharmacology* 24 2010; 10: 1439-1445.
- 73. Patel SR, Humensky JL, Olfson M, Simpson HB, Myers R, Dixon LB. Treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder in a nationwide survey of office-based physician practice. *Psychiatr Serv* 2014; doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201300192.
- 74. Pearcy cp, Anderson RA, Egan SJ, Rees CS. A systematic review and metaanalysis of self-help therapeutic interventions for obsessive-compulsive disorder: is therapeutic contact key to overall improvement? *J Behav Ther & Exp Psychiat* 2016: 74-83.
- 75. Peris TS, Bergman L, Asarnow JR, Langley A, McCracken JT, Piacentini J. Clinical and cognitive Correlates of Depressive Symptoms Among Youth with Obsessive Compulsive disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology 2010*; 39(5): 616-626.
- 76. Pertusa A, Frost RO, Fullana MA, Samuels J, Steketee G, Tolin D, Saxena S,

- Leckman JF, Mataix-Cols D. Refining the diagnostic boundaries of compulsive hoarding: A critical review. *Clinical Psychology Review* 2010; doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2010.01.007.
- 77. Phillips KA and Stein DJ, (Eds.) 2015. *Handbook on Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders*. Washington, DC and London, England: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- 78. Phillips KA, Stein DJ, Rauch SL, Hollander E, Fallon BA, Barsky A, Fineberg N, Mataix-Cols D, Ferrao YA, Saxena S, Wilhelm S, Kelly MM, Clark LA, Pinto A, Bienvenu OJ, Farrow K. Leckman J. Should An Obsessive-Compulsive Spectrum Grouping of Disorders Be Included in DSM-V? *Depression and Anxiety* 2010; 27: 528-555.
- 79. Pigot M, Loo C, Sachdev. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation as treatment for anxiety disorders. *Expert Rev. Neurother 2008*; 8 (10): 1449-1455.
- 80. Pittenger C and Bloch MH. Pharmacological treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Psychiatr Clin North Am* 2014; 37(3): 375-91.
- 81. Practice Parameter for the Assessment and Treatment of Children and Adolescents With Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. *J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 2012; 51 (11): 98-113.
- 82. Ravindran AV, da Silva TL, Ravindran L, Richter MA, Rector NA. Obsessive-Compulsive Spectrum Disorder: A Review of the Evidence-Based Treatments. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry* 2009; 54 (5).
- 83. Rector NA, Richter MA, Lerman B, Regev R. A pilot test of the additive benefits of physical exercise to CBT for OCD. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy* 2015; 44(4): 328-340.
- 84. Ressler KJ and Rothbaum BO. Augmenting obsessive-compulsive disorder treatment from brain to mind. *JAMA Psychiatry* 2013; 70(11):1129-31.
- 85. Romanelli RJ, Wu FM, Gamba R, Mojtabai R, Segal JB. Behavioral therapy and serotonin reuptake inhibitor pharmacotherapy in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis of head-to-head randomized controlled trials. *Depress and Anxiety* 2014; 00:1-12.
- 86. Rosa-Alcazar AI, Sanchez-Meca J, Gomez-Conesa A, Marin-Marinez F. Psychological treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review* 2008; 28: 1310-1325.
- 87. Seibell PJ and Hollander E. Management of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *F1000Prime Reports* 2014; 2014.
- 88. Selvi Y, Atli A, Aydin A, Besiroglu L, Ozdemir P, Osdemir O. The comparison of aripiprazole and risperidone augmentation in selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor-refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder: a single-blind, randomised study. *Hum. Psychopharmacol. Clin Exp* 2011; 26: 51-57.
- 89. Sheth SA, Neal J, Tangherline F, Mian MK, Gentil A, Cosgrove GR, Eskandar E, Dougherty DD. Limbic system surgery for treatment-refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder: a prospective long-term follow-up of 64 patients. *J Neurosur* 2014; 118:P 491-497.
- 90. Sibava NJ, Boisseau CL, Mancebo MC, Eisen JL, Rasmussen SA. Prevalence and Clinical Characteristics of Mental Rituals in a Longitudinal Clinical Sample of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. *Depression and Anxiety* 2011; 28: 892-898.
- 91. Simpson HB, Foa EB, Liebowitz MR, Ledley DR, Huppert JD, Cahill S, Vermes D, Schmidt AB, Hembree E. A Randomized, Controlled Trial of Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy of Augmenting Pharmacotherapy in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* 2008; 165:5.

- 92. Simpson HB, FOa EB. Liebowitz MR. Huppert MD, Cahill S, Maher MJ, McLean CP, Bender J, Marcus SM, Williams MT, Weaver J, Vermes D, Van Meter PE,k Rodriguez CI, Powers M, Pinto A, Imms P, Hahn C, Campeas R. Cognitive-behavioral therapy vs risperidone for augmenting serotonin reuptake inhibitors in obsessive-compulsive disorder: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry* 2013; 70(11): 1190-99.
- 93. Soltani F, Sayyah M, Feizy F, Malayeri A, Siahpoosh A, Motlagh I. *Hum Psychopharmacol Clin Exp* 2010; 25: 509-513.
- 94. Soomro Gm, Altman DG, Rajagopla S, Oakley Browne M. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) versus placebo for obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008, Issue 1, Art. No.: CD001765. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001765.pub3.
- 95. Starcevic V, Berle D, Brakoulias V, Sammut P, Moses K, Milicevic D, Hannan A. Functions of compulsions in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 2011; 45: 449-457.
- 96. Stein DJ, Fineberg NA, Bienvenu OJ, Denys D, Lochner C, Nesadt G, Leckman JF, Rauch SL, Phillips KA. Should OCD Be Classified As An Anxiety Disorder in DSM- V? *Depression and Anxiety* 2010; 27: 495-506.
- 97. Storch E. JAMA Psychiatry. Published online June 29, 2016
- 98. Taylor S. Early versus late onset obsessive-compulsive disorder: Evidence for distinct subtypes. *Clinical Psychology Review* 2011; 31: 1083-1110.
- 99. Thompson-Hollands J, Abramovitch A, Tompson MC, Barlow DH. A randomized clinical trial of a brief family intervention to reduce accommodation in obsessive-compulsive disorder: a preliminary study. *Behav Ther* 2015; 46(2): 218-229.
- 100. Tumur I, Kaltenthaler E, Ferriter M, Beverley C, Parry G. Computerised Cognitive Behaviour Therapy for Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder: A Systematic Review. *Psychother Psychosom* 2007; 76: 196-202.
- 101. Umberto A, Bogetto F, Maina G, Saracco P, Brunatto C, Mataix-Cols D. Family accommodation in obsessive-compulsive disorder: Relation to symptom dimensions, clinical and family characteristics. *Psychiatry Research* 2010; 179: 204-211.
- 102. Veale D, Miles S, Smallcombe, N, Ghezai H, Goldacre B, Hodsoll J. Atypical antipsychotic augmentation in SSRI treatment refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Psychi* 2014; 14:317.
- 103. Watson HJ, Rees CS. Meta-analysis of randomized, controlled treatment trials for pediatric obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 2008; 49(5): 489-498.
- 104. Wilhelm, S, Buhlmann U, Tolin DF et al. Augmentation of behavior therapy with D-cycloserine for obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2008: 165(3):335-341.
- 105. Wootton BM. Remote cognitive-behavior therapy for obsessive-compulsive symptoms: a meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Review* 2016; 103-113.
- 106. Zhang ZJ, Wang X, Qing-Rong T, GuiXing J, Yao SM. Electroacupuncture for Refractory Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. A Pilot Waitlist-Controlled Trial. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*. Volume 197, Number 8, August 2009.
- 107. Farrell LJ, Waters AM, Boschen MJ, et al. Difficult-to-treat pediatric obsessive-compulsive disorder: feasibility and preliminary results of a randomized pilot trial of D-cycloserine-augmentedmbehavior therapy. *Depress Anxiety*. 2013;30(8):723-731.